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Dear Stockholders:

We are entering an incredibly exciting and transformative time, both for our company and the world around us.
LogMeIn has long thrived on a simple but powerful premise: that possibilities increase with connectivity. Today,
the ways in which we connect to our workplaces, colleagues and clients are changing. An entirely new generation
of connected products is emerging that many experts predict could soon dwarf the size of the PC, smartphone and
tablet markets. Businesses of all types and sizes are reinventing customer service and reimagining the ways they
connect and engage with their customers. And we believe that few companies are better poised to capitalize on
the exponential growth in connectivity than LogMeIn.

As we enter 2015, we are coming off one of the best years in the history of the company. With $222 million in
revenue — representing 34 percent year-over-year growth — 2014 was our single best growth year since our first
full year as a public company, and we generated cash at a rate that continues to be amongst the best of all SaaS
companies. More importantly, we believe we made significant progress on key strategic initiatives that will not
only help to drive growth in 2015, but will help us to aggressively pursue some of the biggest opportunities in all
of technology.

Our much beloved online meeting product, join.me, is used by millions of people and was recently named as the
fastest growing web conferencing product on the market by analyst firm Frost and Sullivan. In 2015, you’ll see
us take key steps that we believe could help join.me fundamentally redefine business collaboration as we know it.

We have built one of the world’s best known remote access and management franchises — products that helped
IT professionals and small business owners embrace a mobile workforce and mobile work styles. In 2015, we
believe we have an opportunity to deliver the security and productivity required by today’s app-centric and
cloud-centric world.

We have been pioneers in the burgeoning Internet of Things market, and today, many of the world’s best service
and technology companies rely on our Service Cloud products to serve their global customer bases. In 2015, we
believe we have an opportunity to capitalize on what we see as a favorable synergy between these areas by
delivering offerings that help companies connect, manage, and engage with their customers in the Internet of
Things era.

Our success to date has come by making it simply possible to connect people to each other and the world around
them. And we believe that our investments in future connectivity have put us in a favorable position to transform
our key markets in ways that deliver growth for our business and the best long-term return for LogMeIn and our
stockholders.

On behalf of the entire LogMeIn team, we thank you, our stockholders, for helping us as we to continue to
execute against this vision.

Sincerely,

Michael K. Simon, Chairman and CEO
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Forward-Looking Statements

Matters discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K relating to future events or our future performance,
including any discussion, express or implied, of our anticipated growth, operating results, future earnings per
share, market opportunity, plans and objectives, are “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Sec-
tion 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended. These statements are often identified by the words “may,” “will,” “expect,” “believe,” “anticipate,”
“intend,” “could,” “estimate,” or “continue,” and similar expressions or variations. Such forward-looking
statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results and the timing of
certain events to differ materially from future results expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.
Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the
section titled “Risk Factors,” set forth in Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and elsewhere in this
Report. The forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K represent our views as of the date
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We anticipate that subsequent events and developments will cause our
views to change. However, while we may elect to update these forward-looking statements at some point in the
future, we have no current intention of doing so except to the extent required by applicable law. You should,
therefore, not rely on these forward-looking statements as representing our views as of any date subsequent to
the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

LogMeIn provides a portfolio of cloud-based service offerings which make it possible for people and businesses
to simply and securely connect to their workplace, colleagues and customers. Our services free millions of people to
work from virtually anywhere on any Internet enabled device, empower IT professionals to securely embrace today’s
mobile and cloud-centric workplace, transform how companies engage and support their customers, and help busi-
nesses bring the next generation of connected products to market. These services range from free downloadable mobile
and web-based collaboration apps to enterprise grade professional helpdesk solutions to a cloud-based platform for the
Internet of Things, all of which are accessible from anywhere with an Internet connection.

We incorporated under the laws of Bermuda as 3am Labs Ltd in February 2003. In August 2004, we com-
pleted a domestication in the State of Delaware under the name 3am Labs, Inc. We changed our name to Log-
MeIn, Inc. in March 2006. Our principal executive offices are located at 320 Summer Street, Boston MA 02210.
Our website address is www.LogMeIn.com. We have included our website address in this report solely as an
inactive textual reference. In 2004, we introduced our first cloud-based connectivity offering, which allowed
users to securely connect to remote computer resources, including files, applications and the remote device itself.
Used primarily by mobile professionals for the purposes of working remotely and by IT service providers to
remotely manage computers and servers, this remote access solution was designed to give users the flexibility to
work and interact with their computer resources from any other Internet-connected computer. We have since
used this scalable technical foundation to expand the types of devices and data that can be accessed remotely,
while introducing a variety of cloud-based offerings or applications built off of this foundation that address
today’s collaboration, customer service, IT management and connected product development use cases.

Our services are delivered via the cloud as hosted services, meaning that the technology enabling the use of
our services primarily resides on our servers, data centers and IT hardware, rather than those of our users. We
call the software, hardware and networking technology used to deliver our cloud-based services “Gravity”. Grav-
ity establishes secure connections over the Internet between two or more Internet-enabled devices and manages
the direct transmission of data between remotely connected devices. With tens of millions of users and hundreds
of millions of sessions brokered, we believe our services are used to connect more Internet-enabled devices
worldwide, than any other connectivity platform on the market.

We offer both free and fee based, or premium, services. Sales of our premium services are generated
through word-of-mouth referrals, web-based advertising, online search, off-line advertising, broadcast advertis-
ing, the conversion of free users and expiring free trials to paid subscriptions and direct marketing to new and
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existing customers. We complement our free services with our fee-based, or premium, services that can be easily
accessed by users via time-bound free trials. The majority of these premium services are sold on an annual or
monthly subscription basis.

We derive our revenue principally from subscription fees from SMBs, IT service providers, mobile carriers,
customer service centers, original equipment manufacturers, or OEMs, and consumers and, to a lesser extent,
from the delivery of professional services primarily related to our Xively business. The majority of our customers
subscribe to our services on an annual basis. Our revenue is driven primarily by the number and type of our
premium services for which our paying customers subscribe. During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2012,
2013 and 2014, we generated revenues of $138.8 million, $166.3 million, and $222.0 million, respectively.

Our Market Opportunity

Our cloud-based connectivity services allow our users to work remotely, use a mix of personal and
employer-procured technology for work purposes, support and manage remote computers and other Internet-
enabled devices, and collaborate with other users. We believe our services benefit users in the following ways:

• Increased productivity both in and outside of traditional office environments. Our collaboration and
remote access services allow users to simply host and/or attend web-based meetings, access and control
remote computers, access and secure cloud or web applications, run applications across different plat-
forms and devices and save and share data with the cloud, thereby increasing their mobility and allowing
them to remain productive from virtually anywhere on virtually any Internet-enabled device.

• Reduced set-up, support and management costs. Our services enable IT staff to administer, monitor and
support workers, their applications, their data, and their computers and other Internet-enabled devices
from a remote location. Businesses can easily set up our cloud-based services with little or no mod-
ification to the remote location’s network or security systems and without the need for upfront technology
or software investment. Additionally, our customers are often able to lower their support and management
costs by performing their management-related tasks remotely, thereby reducing or eliminating the costs of
on-site support and management.

• Increased end-user and customer satisfaction. Our customers rely on our services to improve the effi-
ciency and effectiveness of end-user support and customer service. Satisfaction with support and other
customer engagement services is primarily measured by customer satisfaction, sales conversions, call-
handling time and whether or not an issue is resolved on the first call. Our services enable helpdesk
technicians, as well as customer service staff, to quickly and easily engage with users, gain access to and
take control over a remote user’s Internet-enabled device. Once connected, technicians can diagnose and
resolve problems while interacting with and possibly training the end user. Technicians can also answer
questions and resolve common dilemmas via web chat, email, SMS and even social channels, like Twit-
ter.

• Reliable, fast and secure service. Our cloud-based services are delivered by a common proprietary plat-
form called “Gravity,” which is designed to ensure that our services are reliable, fast and secure. Gravity
achieves redundancy by being physically hosted in seven geographically diverse data centers, four of
which are located in the United States, one of which is located in the United Kingdom, one of which is
located in Asia and one of which is located in Australia. Gravity transmits data directly between end-point
devices, which helps us reduce our bandwidth related costs and enables our services to connect and
manage devices at enhanced speeds. Gravity also utilizes industry standard security protocols and is
designed to authenticate and authorize users of our services without storing passwords.

• Easy to try, buy and use. Our services are simple to install, which allows our prospective customers to
use our services within minutes of registering for a trial. Additionally, our low service-delivery costs and
hosted delivery model allow us to offer each of our services at competitive prices and to offer flexible
payment options.

2



Our Business Strengths

We believe that the following strengths differentiate us from our competitors and are key to our success:

• Large established user community. As of December 31, 2014, tens of millions of customers have con-
nected hundreds of millions of Internet-enabled devices to our services. These users drive awareness of
our services through personal recommendations, blogs, social media and other online communication
methods and provide us with a significant audience to which we can market and sell premium services.

• Efficient customer acquisition model. We believe our free products and our large installed user base
help to generate word-of-mouth referrals, which in turn increases the efficiency of our paid marketing
activities. Sales of our premium services are generated through word-of-mouth referrals, web-based
advertising, online search, off-line advertising, broadcast advertising, the conversion of free users and
expiring free trials to paid subscriptions and marketing to our existing customer and user base. We
believe this direct approach to acquiring new customers generates an attractive and predictable return on
our sales and marketing expenditures.

• Technology-enabled cost advantage. Our service delivery platform, Gravity, establishes secure con-
nections over the Internet between devices and manages the direct transmission of data between them.
This patented platform reduces our bandwidth and other infrastructure requirements, which we believe
makes our services faster and less expensive to deliver. We believe this cost advantage allows us to offer
free services and serve a broader user community than our competitors.

• Online, cloud-based delivery. Delivering our services online via the cloud allows us to serve additional
customers with little incremental expense and to deploy new applications and upgrades quickly and effi-
ciently to our existing customers.

• High recurring revenue and high transaction volumes. We sell a majority of our premium services on a
monthly or annual subscription basis, which provides greater levels of recurring revenues and predict-
ability compared to traditional perpetual license-based business models. Approximately 99% of our sub-
scriptions have a one-year term. We believe that our sales model of a high volume of new and renewed
subscriptions at low transaction prices increases the predictability of our revenues compared to perpetual
licensed-based software businesses.

Growth Strategy

Our objective is to extend our position as a leading provider of essential cloud-based services for all Internet
connected devices. To accomplish this, we intend to:

• Acquire new customers. We acquire new customers through word-of-mouth referrals from our existing
user community and from paid, online advertising designed to attract visitors to our website. We also
encourage our website visitors to register for free trials of our premium services. We supplement our
online efforts with email and other traditional marketing campaigns and by participating in trade events
and web-based seminars. To increase our sales, we plan to continue to aggressively market our solutions
and encourage trials of our services while expanding our sales force.

• Increase sales to existing customers. We upsell and cross-sell our broad portfolio of services to our
existing premium subscriber customer base. To further penetrate this base, we plan to continue to actively
market our portfolio of services through e-commerce and by expanding our sales force.

• Continue to expand our service portfolio. We intend to continue to invest in the development of new
cloud-based connectivity services for businesses, IT service providers, consumers and mobile pro-
fessionals.

• Pursue strategic acquisitions. We pursue acquisitions that complement our existing business, represent
a strong strategic fit and are consistent with our overall growth strategy. We also target future acquisitions
to expand or add functionality and capabilities to our existing portfolio of services, as well as add new
services to our portfolio.
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• Expand internationally. We offer services in 12 different languages and our services are used in more
than 240 countries. We believe there is a significant opportunity to increase our sales internationally. We
intend to continue to expand our international sales and marketing personnel and increase our interna-
tional marketing expenditures to take advantage of this opportunity.

• Continue to build our user community. We grow our community of users by marketing our services
through paid advertising that targets prospective customers who are seeking essential cloud connectivity
services and by offering popular free services, like join me. This strategy improves the effectiveness of
our online advertising by increasing our response rates when people seeking remote access, collaboration,
customer engagement and data services conduct online searches. In addition, our large and growing
community of users drives awareness of our services and increases referrals of potential customers and
users.

Our Services

Our core cloud-based services can generally be categorized into four business lines based on customer needs
and respective use cases.

Collaboration. Our collaboration business is comprised of services designed to make it easy for users to
interact with and access the computers, devices, data and people that make up their digital world. These
individual services are as follows:

• join.me, join.me pro and join.me enterprise are our free and premium browser-based online meeting and
screen sharing services that give users the ability to quickly and securely host an online meeting with
other people. These services can be initiated through a visit to the http://join.me website, through a small
downloadable desktop application or through mobile applications. The free version of join.me provides
users with access to basic online meeting and collaboration tools such as file sharing, use of a dedicated
VoIP conference line, remote control and in-meeting chat. Users who upgrade to join.me pro receive
access to additional key features such as presenter swap, a scheduling tool, Google Calendar and Micosoft
Outlook plugins, the ability to record and recap meetings, on-screen annotation tools and detailed session
reporting. Users and businesses who upgrade to join.me enterprise receive additional account manage-
ment, policy control and provisioning capabilities, as well as Salesforce.com integration.

• Cubby Basic, Cubby Pro and Cubby Enterprise are our cloud-based file syncing, storage and sharing
services that allow users to simply and securely share data and files with other people and across all of
their Internet-enabled devices, such as smartphones, tablets and computers. All three services can be
accessed and used via a web-browser, a downloadable desktop application and free mobile applications.
Users can choose to replicate or “sync” any folder and its contents on their computer with any other
computer, mobile device and the cloud, thereby ensuring that their data is available across all of their
devices and accessible from virtually anywhere with an Internet connection. Files stored within a user’s
“Cubby,” or synced folder, can also be shared with other people by either sending read-only web links or
by sending a direct message inviting others into a particular “Cubby,” for access to and collaboration
around sets of files. Cubby utilizes the same encryption standards used by many banks to encrypt online
banking transactions to ensure that data is secure and can only be decrypted using a combination of
encryption keys maintained by LogMeIn and/or the owner of the Cubby account. Cubby Basic provides
users with access to 5GB of free cloud storage space. Cubby Pro is a premium offering for individual
users that extends the benefits of Cubby Basic through additional, personal security features, the ability to
sync files and folders directly between two or more computers without using the cloud, and offers users
the ability to purchase additional storage space. Cubby Enterprise is designed for use by teams or entire
businesses. It contains all of the features of Cubby Pro in addition to multi-user data sharing and security,
and administrative and management controls that be customized by IT professionals or other admin-
istrators.

• LogMeIn Pro is our premium remote access service that provides secure access to a remote computer or
other Internet-enabled device from any other Internet connected computer, as well as most modern
smartphones and tablets. Once a Pro host is installed on a device, a user can quickly and easily access that

4



device’s desktop, files, applications and network resources remotely from their other Internet-enabled
devices. LogMeIn Pro can be rapidly deployed and installed without the need for IT expertise. Users
typically engage in a free trial prior to purchase.

Service and Support. The services that comprise our service and support business are used by external
customer service and support organizations, online retail and web-based businesses, as well as IT outsourcers and
internal IT departments to deliver online, cloud-based service and support to customers and their Internet-enabled
devices. These services are as follows:

• LogMeIn Rescue and LogMeIn Rescue+Mobile are our Web-based remote support and customer care
services, which are used by helpdesk professionals to provide remote support via the Internet, without the
need of pre-installed software. Using LogMeIn Rescue, support and service professionals can communi-
cate with end users through an Internet chat window while diagnosing and repairing computer problems.
If given permission by the computer user, the support professional can access, view or even take control
of the end user’s computer to take necessary support actions and to train the end user on the use of soft-
ware and operating system applications. LogMeIn Rescue+Mobile is an add-on of LogMeIn Rescue’s
web-based remote support service that allows call center technicians and IT professionals to remotely
access and support Blackberry, Symbian, iOS and Android smartphones and tablets. Technicians can send
a text message directing users to download a small software application onto their mobile device, which,
once installed, allows the technician to remotely access, control and troubleshoot the phone or tablet.

• BoldChat is our Web-based live chat service that helps customer service staff, ranging from sales to pre-
and-post sale support, to directly engage and provide assistance to visitors to their organization’s website.
Key features include real-time visitor monitoring, co-browsing, detailed reporting on chat activity and its
overall effectiveness, the ability to define rules that automatically trigger the initiation of a chat window,
the ability to route and distribute chats to improve efficiency and the ability to monitor and manage cus-
tomer conversations on Twitter, email and via SMS messages. Our BoldChat service offerings range from
a basic free offering to a fully-featured enterprise offering, with multiple pricing tiers based on the num-
ber of users and desired features.

IT Management. Our IT management business is comprised of services that are used by internal and
external IT professionals to manage and secure remote computers and other Internet-enabled devices, automate
common IT tasks, manage and secure sensitive data and help ensure the productivity of mobile workers.

• LogMeIn Central is a web-based management console that helps IT professionals access, manage and
monitor remote computers, deploy software updates and patches, automate IT tasks, and run hundreds of
versions of antivirus software. LogMeIn Central is offered as a premium service and works in conjunction
with either basic hosts, which are free, or managed hosts, which are an additional premium offering and
are priced per computer.

• Meldium is a password and identity management product designed to help IT professionals and knowl-
edge workers securely manage, store and share login credentials to over 1,600 third party cloud and web-
based applications. Meldium allows for simple security and provisioning for applications used by
employees to help ensure access to work-based applications and related data can be granted or revoked as
necessary by managers or IT professionals. Meldium is offered as a free product for individual use and is
also sold as a premium product for team use.

• AppGuru is an application management product designed to help IT professionals and IT service pro-
viders discover, provision and secure both company procured and employee procured cloud and/or
Software-as-a-Service applications being used within the workplace. AppGuru works in conjunction with
LogMeIn applications like join.me and Cubby, as well as dozens of popular third-party applications like
Salesforce.com, Dropbox, Box and NetSuite.

Connected Products. Our connected product business is comprised solely of Xively, our Internet of Things
cloud platform, which may be used by businesses to connect deploy, manage and support Internet connected
products that lack a traditional operating system. The Xively platform provides the infrastructure needed to help
businesses reduce the costs of, and accelerate the time-to-market for, new Internet-connected products, applica-
tions and customer services.
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Additional Service Offerings. In addition to the above-described core cloud-based services, we continue to
offer the following legacy services:

• RemotelyAnywhere is a LAN-based systems administration product used to manage personal computers
and servers from within the IT system of an enterprise. Unlike our core cloud-based service offerings,
RemotelyAnywhere is licensed to customers on a perpetual basis. We also offer annual maintenance serv-
ices that include software upgrades and support services for this application.

• LogMeIn Backup is a service that subscribers install on two or more computers to create a backup net-
work and is generally sold as a complement to LogMeIn Central or LogMeIn Pro subscriptions. LogMeIn
Backup provides IT service providers a simple backup alternative to offer their customers using storage
capacity that they can control. Files can be stored on, and restored to, any PC that the subscriber chooses,
using industry-standard encryption protocols for the transmission and storage of the data.

• LogMeIn Hamachi is a hosted virtual private network, or VPN, service that establishes a computer net-
work among remote computers. LogMeIn Hamachi typically works with existing network and firewall
configurations and can be managed from a web browser or the user’s software. Using LogMeIn Hamachi,
users can securely communicate over the Internet as if their computers are on the same LAN, allowing for
remote access and virtual networking. LogMeIn Hamachi is offered both as a free and paid service, with
tiered pricing based on the number of devices connected in each network.

Sales and Marketing

Our sales and marketing efforts are designed to attract prospective customers to our website, enroll them in
free trials of our services and convert them to and retain them as paying customers. We expend sales and market-
ing resources through a combination of paid and unpaid sources. We also invest in public relations to broaden the
general awareness of our services and to highlight the quality and reliability of our services for specific audi-
ences. We are constantly seeking and employing new methods to reach more users and to convert them to paid
subscribers. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, we spent $70.1 million, $88.8
million and $119.5 million, respectively, on sales and marketing.

New Account Sales. Our sales are typically preceded by a trial of one of our services, and 98% of our sales
transactions are settled via credit card. Our sales operations team manages the processes, systems and procedures
that determine whether or not a trial should be managed by a telephone-based sales representative or handled via
our e-commerce sales process. As of December 31, 2014, we employed 164 telephone-based sales representa-
tives to manage newly generated trials. In addition, a small sales and business development team concentrates on
sales to larger organizations and the formulation of strategic technology partnerships that are intended to generate
additional sales.

International Sales. We currently have sales teams located in Ireland, the United Kingdom, Asia, and
Australia focusing on international sales. In the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, we generated
approximately 35%, 34% and 33%, respectively, of our revenue outside of the United States. As of December 31,
2012, 2013 and 2014, approximately 37%, 23% and 28% of our long-lived assets were located outside of the
United States.

Online Advertising. We advertise online through pay-per-click spending with search engines, banner
advertising with online advertising networks and other websites and email newsletters likely to be frequented by
our target consumers, SMBs and IT professionals.

Tradeshows and Events. We showcase our services at technology and industry-specific tradeshows and
events. Our participation in these shows ranges from elaborate presentations in front of large groups to one-on-
one discussions and demonstrations at manned booths. In 2014, we attended approximately 60 trade shows and
events in the United States, Europe, Asia and Australia.

Offline Advertising. Our offline print advertising is comprised of publications targeted at IT professionals and
consumers. We also sponsor advertorials in regional newspapers, which target IT consumers. Additionally, from
time-to-time we have advertised using more traditional methods, such as outdoor advertising, in regional markets.
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Radio Advertising. Our radio advertising includes 30-second “spots” as well as radio program sponsor-
ships, and is primarily conducted on satellite and Internet radio networks, with some select advertising on tradi-
tional FM and AM radio stations. Show, channel and program selection is based on our key target audiences,
most notably IT professionals and knowledge workers.

Word-of-Mouth Referrals. We believe that we have developed a loyal customer and user base, and new
customers frequently claim to have heard about us from a current LogMeIn user. Many of our users arrive at our
website via word-of-mouth referrals from existing users of our services.

Direct Advertising Into Our User Community. We have a large existing user community comprised of
both free users and paying customers. Users of most of our services come to our website each time they log-in to
their account and we use this opportunity to promote additional premium services to them.

Social Media Marketing. We participate in online communities such as Twitter, Facebook, LinkedIn and
YouTube for the purpose of marketing, public relations and customer service. Through these online collaboration
sites, we actively engage our users, learn about their needs, and foster word-of-mouth by creating and responding
to content about LogMeIn events, promotions, product news and user questions.

Web-Based Seminars. We offer free online seminars to current and prospective customers designed to
educate them about the benefits of online collaboration, remote access, support and administration, particularly
with LogMeIn, and guide them in the use of our services. We often highlight customer success stories and focus
the seminar on common business problems and key market and IT trends.

Public Relations. We engage in targeted public relations programs, including issuing press releases
announcing important company events and product releases, participating in interviews with reporters and ana-
lysts, both general and industry specific and by, attending panel and group discussions and speeches at industry
events. We also register our services in awards competitions and encourage bloggers to comment on our prod-
ucts.

Our Infrastructure, Technology and Developments

LogMeIn Gravity Service Delivery Platform. The majority of our services are delivered via a common
proprietary cloud connectivity and data platform called “Gravity,” which consists of software applications, cus-
tomized databases and web servers. Gravity establishes secure connections over the Internet between remote
computers and other Internet-enabled devices and manages the direct transmission of data between remotely
connected devices. Gravity is designed to be scalable and serve our large user community at low costs by
reducing our bandwidth and other infrastructure requirements, which we believe makes our services faster and
less expensive to deliver than other competing services.

The infrastructure-related costs of delivering our services include bandwidth, power, server depreciation and
co-location fees. Gravity transmits data using a combination of methods designed to relay data via our data cen-
ters and to transmit data over the Internet directly between end-point devices. During the twelve months ended
December 31, 2014, more than 93% of the data transmitted by our services was transmitted directly between end-
point devices, reducing our bandwidth and bandwidth-related costs.

Gravity also implements multiple layers of security. Our services utilize industry-standard security protocols
for encryption and authentication. Access to a device through our services requires system passwords such as the
username and password for Windows. We also add additional layers of security such as single-use passwords, IP
address filtering and IP address lockout. For security purposes, Gravity does not save end-user passwords for
devices.

Gravity is physically hosted in seven third-party co-location facilities located in the United States, Europe,
Australia and Asia. Our goal is to maintain sufficient excess capacity such that any one of the data centers could
fail and the remaining data centers could handle the service load without extensive disruption to our services.
During the twelve months ended December 31, 2014, our Gravity service was available 99.99% of the time.

Research and Development. We have made and intend to continue making significant investments in
research and development in order to continue to improve the efficiency of our service delivery platform,
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improve our existing services and bring new services to market. Our primary engineering organization is based in
Budapest, Hungary, where the first version of our remote access service was developed. Approximately 43% of
our employees, as of December 31, 2014, work in research and development. Research and development
expenses totaled $26.4 million, $29.0 million and $33.5 million in the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and
2014, respectively.

Intellectual Property. Our intellectual property rights are important to our business. We rely on a
combination of copyright, trade secret, trademark, patent and other rights in the United States and other juris-
dictions, as well as confidentiality procedures and contractual provisions to protect our proprietary technology,
processes and other intellectual property. We also have twelve issued patents and eleven patents pending and are
in the process of filing additional patent applications that cover other features of our services.

We enter into confidentiality and other written agreements with our employees, customers, consultants and
partners, and through these and other written agreements, we attempt to control access to and distribution of our
software, documentation and other proprietary technology and other information. Despite our efforts to protect
our proprietary rights, third parties may, in an unauthorized manner, attempt to use, copy or otherwise obtain and
market or distribute our intellectual property rights or technology or otherwise develop products or services with
the same functionality as our services. In addition, U.S. patent filings are intended to provide the holder with a
right to exclude others from making, using, selling or importing in the United States the inventions covered by
the claims of granted patents. If granted, our patents may be contested, circumvented or invalidated. Moreover,
the rights that may be granted in those pending patents may not provide us with proprietary protection or com-
petitive advantages, and we may not be able to prevent third parties from infringing these patents. Therefore, the
exact effect of our pending patents, if issued, and the other steps we have taken to protect our intellectual prop-
erty cannot be predicted with certainty.

Although the protection afforded by copyright, trade secret and trademark law, written agreements and
common law may provide some advantages, we believe that the following factors help us maintain a competitive
advantage:

• our large user and customer base;

• the technological skills of our research and development personnel;

• frequent enhancements to our services; and

• continued expansion of our proprietary technology.

“LogMeIn” is a registered trademark in the United States and in the European Union. We also hold a num-
ber of other trademarks and service marks identifying certain of our services or features of our services. We also
have a number of trademark applications pending.

Competition

The market that we compete in is evolving, and we expect to face additional competition in the future. We
believe that the key competitive factors in the market include:

• service reliability and security;

• ease of initial setup and use;

• fitness for use and the design of features that best meet the needs of the target customer;

• the ability to support multiple device types and operating systems;

• cost of customer acquisition;

• product and brand awareness;

• the ability to reach large fragmented groups of users;

• cost of service delivery; and

• pricing flexibility.
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We believe that our large user base, efficient customer acquisition model and low service delivery costs
enable us to compete effectively against our largest competitors, including Citrix’s Online division and Cisco’s
WebEx division. Both companies offer hosted collaboration and remote access-based services. Both of these
competitors attract new customers through traditional marketing and sales efforts, while we have primarily
focused on building a large-scale community of users. We believe we reach significantly more users than Citrix
and WebEx, which allows us to attract paying customers efficiently.

Certain of our solutions also compete with current or potential services offered by Adobe, Apple, Cisco/
WebEx, Citrix, Google, IBM, TeamViewer, Splashtop, GFI, OKTA, BlueJeans, LivePerson, Dropbox, Box,
SugarSync, Microsoft, Oracle and PTC. Some of our competitors may also offer, currently or in the future, lower
priced, or even free, products or services that compete with our services, including, but not limited to,
Symantec’s pcAnywhere, Google’s Chrome Remote Desktop and Microsoft’s Remote Desktop, which comes
bundled into most current versions of the Microsoft operating system.

Many of our actual and potential competitors enjoy greater name recognition, longer operating histories,
more varied products and services and larger marketing budgets, as well as substantially greater financial,
technical and other resources, than we do. In addition, we may also face future competition from new market
entrants. We believe that our large user base, efficient customer acquisition model and low service delivery posi-
tion us well to compete effectively in the future.

Available Information

Copies of the periodic reports that we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, such as
our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and any other
filings may be obtained by the public, free of charge, by visiting the Investors section of our website at
https://investor.logmein.com/sec.cfm, as soon as reasonably practicable after they have been filed with the SEC,
or by contacting our Investor Relations department at our office address listed above. Additionally, the SEC
maintains copies of any materials that we may file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F
Street, NE, Room 1580, Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of the Pub-
lic Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also maintains an Internet site that contains
periodic reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically
with the SEC at www.sec.gov. The contents of these websites are not incorporated into this filing. Further, our
references to the URLs for these websites are intended to be inactive textual references only.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had 804 full-time employees. None of our employees are represented by labor
unions or covered by collective bargaining agreements. We consider our relationship with our employees to be
good.

Segments

We have determined that we have one operating segment. For more information about our segments, see
Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our business is subject to numerous risks. We caution you that the following important factors, among oth-
ers, could cause our actual results to differ materially from those expressed in forward-looking statements made
by us or on our behalf in filings with the SEC, press releases, communications with investors and oral statements.
Any or all of our forward-looking statements in this Annual Report or Form 10-K and in any other public state-
ments we make may turn out to be wrong. They can be affected by inaccurate assumptions we might make or by
known or unknown risks and uncertainties. Many factors mentioned in the discussion below will be important in
determining future results. Consequently, no forward-looking statement can be guaranteed. Actual future results
may differ materially from those anticipated in forward looking statements. We undertake no obligation to
update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. You
are advised, however, to consult any further disclosure we make in our reports filed with the SEC.
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RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS

We may be unable to maintain profitability.

We reported a net loss of $7.7 million for fiscal 2013, primarily due to patent litigation related expenses,
and we reported net income of $8.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. However, given our operating
history, we cannot be certain that we will be able to maintain this profitability in the future. Our growth in rev-
enue and customer base may not be sustainable, and we may not achieve sufficient revenue to achieve or main-
tain profitability. We may incur significant losses in the future for a number of reasons, including, but not limited
to, unforeseen expenses, operating difficulties, complications and delays or due to the other risks described in
this report. Accordingly, we may not be able to maintain our profitability, and we may incur significant losses for
the foreseeable future.

Assertions by a third party that our services and solutions infringe its intellectual property, whether or not
correct, could subject us to costly and time-consuming litigation or expensive licenses.

There is frequent litigation in the software and technology industries based on allegations of infringement or
other violations of intellectual property rights. We have been, and may in the future be, subject to third party
patent infringement or other intellectual property-related lawsuits as we face increasing competition and become
increasingly visible. Regardless of the merit of these claims, they can be time-consuming, result in costly liti-
gation and diversion of technical and management personnel or require us to develop a non-infringing technology
or enter into license agreements. There can be no assurance that such licenses will be available on acceptable
terms and conditions, if at all, and although we have previously licensed proprietary technology, we cannot be
certain that the owners’ rights in such technology will not be challenged, invalidated or circumvented. For these
reasons and because of the potential for court awards that are difficult to predict, it is not unusual to find even
arguably unmeritorious claims settled for significant amounts. In addition, many of our service agreements
require us to indemnify our customers from certain third-party intellectual property infringement claims, which
could increase our costs as a result of defending such claims and may require that we pay damages if there were
an adverse ruling related to any such claims. These types of claims could harm our relationships with our
customers, deter future customers from subscribing to our services or expose us to further litigation. These costs,
monetary or otherwise, associated with defending against third party allegations of infringement could have
negative effects on our business, financial condition and operating results.

For additional information please refer to Part I, Item 3 entitled “Legal Proceedings” and Note 11 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

If the security of our customers’ confidential information stored in our systems is breached or otherwise
subjected to unauthorized access, our reputation may be harmed, and we may be exposed to liability and a
loss of customers.

Our systems store our customers’ confidential information, which may include credit card information,
account and device information and other critical data. Any accidental or willful security breaches or other
unauthorized access could expose us to liability for the loss of such information, time consuming and expensive
litigation and other potential liabilities, as well as negative publicity. Many states have also enacted laws requir-
ing companies to notify individuals of data security breaches involving their personal data. These mandatory
disclosures regarding a security breach often lead to widespread negative publicity, which may cause our
customers to lose confidence in the effectiveness of our data security measures.

Additionally, techniques used by computer hackers and cyber criminals to obtain unauthorized access or to
sabotage systems change frequently and generally are difficult to recognize and react to. Our services and sys-
tems, including the systems of our outsourced service providers, have been and may in the future continue to be
the target of various forms of cyber-attacks such as DNS attacks, wireless network attacks, viruses and worms,
malicious software, application centric attacks, peer-to-peer attacks, phishing attempts, backdoor trojans and dis-
tributed denial of service (DDoS) attacks. While we make significant efforts to maintain the security and
integrity of our services and computer systems, our cybersecurity measures and the cybersecurity measures taken
by our third-party data center facilities may be unable to anticipate, detect or prevent all attempts to compromise
our systems. Any security breach, whether successful or not, could harm our reputation, subject us to lawsuits
and other potential liabilities and ultimately could result in the loss of customers.
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If our services are used to commit fraud or other similar intentional or illegal acts, we may incur significant
liabilities, our services may be perceived as not secure and customers may curtail or stop using our services.

Certain services we provide enable direct remote access to third-party computer systems. We do not control
the use or content of information accessed by our customers through our services. If our services are used to
commit fraud or other bad or illegal acts, including, but not limited to, posting, distributing or transmitting any
software or other computer files that contain a virus or other harmful component, interfering or disrupting third-
party networks, infringing any third party’s copyright, patent, trademark, trade secret or other proprietary rights
or rights of publicity or privacy, transmitting any unlawful, harassing, libelous, abusive, threatening, vulgar or
otherwise objectionable material, or accessing unauthorized third-party data, we may become subject to claims
for defamation, negligence or intellectual property infringement and subject to other potential liabilities. As a
result, defending such claims could be expensive and time-consuming, and we could incur significant liability to
our customers and to individuals or businesses who were the targets of such acts. As a result, our business may
suffer and our reputation may be damaged.

We depend on search engines to attract a significant percentage of our customers, and if those search
engines change their listings or increase their pricing, it would limit our ability to attract new customers.

Many of our customers locate our website through search engines, such as Google. Search engines typically
provide two types of search results, algorithmic and purchased listings, and we rely on both types. Algorithmic
listings cannot be purchased and are determined and displayed solely by a set of formulas designed by the search
engine. Search engines revise their algorithms from time to time in an attempt to optimize search result listings.
If the search engines on which we rely for algorithmic listings modify their algorithms in a manner that reduces
the prominence of our listing, fewer potential customers may click through to our website, requiring us to resort
to other costly resources to replace this traffic. Any failure to replace this traffic could reduce our revenue and
increase our costs. In addition, costs for purchased listings have increased in the past and may increase in the
future, and further increases could have negative effects on our financial condition.

If we are unable to attract new customers to our services on a cost-effective basis, our revenue and results
of operations will be adversely affected.

We must continue to attract a large number of customers on a cost-effective basis, many of whom have not
previously used cloud-based, remote-connectivity solutions. We rely on a variety of marketing methods to attract
new customers to our services, such as paying providers of online services and search engines for advertising
space and priority placement of our website in response to Internet searches. Our ability to attract new customers
also depends on the competitiveness of the pricing of our services. If our current marketing initiatives are not
successful or become unavailable, if the cost of such initiatives were to significantly increase, or if our com-
petitors offer similar services at lower prices, we may not be able to attract new customers on a cost-effective
basis and, as a result, our revenue and results of operations would be adversely affected.

If we are unable to retain our existing customers, our revenue and results of operations would be adversely
affected.

We sell our services pursuant to agreements that are generally one year in duration. Our customers have no
obligation to renew their subscriptions after their subscription period expires, and these subscriptions may not be
renewed on the same or on more profitable terms. As a result, our ability to grow depends in part on subscription
renewals. We may not be able to accurately predict future trends in customer renewals, and our customers’
renewal rates may decline or fluctuate because of several factors, including their satisfaction or dissatisfaction
with our services, the prices of our services, the prices of services offered by our competitors or reductions in our
customers’ spending levels. If our customers do not renew their subscriptions for our services, renew on less
favorable terms, or do not purchase additional functionality or subscriptions, our revenue may grow more slowly
than expected or decline, and our profitability and gross margins may be harmed.
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If we fail to convert our free users to paying customers, our revenue and financial results will be harmed.

A significant portion of our user base utilizes our services free of charge through our free services or free
trials of our premium services. We seek to convert these free and trial users to paying customers of our premium
services. If our rate of conversion suffers for any reason, our revenue may decline and our business may suffer.

If our efforts to build a strong brand identity are not successful, we may not be able to attract or retain
subscribers and our operating results may be adversely affected.

We believe that building and maintaining a strong brand identity plays an important role in attracting and
retaining subscribers to our services, who may have other options from which to obtain their remote connectivity
services. In order to build a strong brand, we believe that we must continue to offer innovative remote con-
nectivity services that our subscribers value and enjoy using, and also market and promote those services through
effective marketing campaigns, promotions and communications with our user base. From time-to-time, sub-
scribers may express dissatisfaction with our services or react negatively to our strategic business decisions, such
as changes that we make in pricing, features or service offerings, including the discontinuance of our free serv-
ices. To the extent that user dissatisfaction with our services or strategic business decisions is widespread or not
adequately addressed, our overall brand identity may suffer and as a result our ability to attract and retain sub-
scribers may be adversely affected, which could adversely affect our operating results.

Our business strategy includes acquiring or investing in other companies, which may divert our
management’s attention, result in additional dilution to our stockholders and consume resources that are
necessary to sustain our business.

Our business strategy includes acquiring complementary services, technologies or businesses. We also may
enter into relationships with other businesses to expand our portfolio of services or our ability to provide our
services in foreign jurisdictions, which could involve preferred or exclusive licenses, additional channels of dis-
tribution, discount pricing or investments in other companies. Negotiating these transactions can be time-
consuming, difficult and expensive, and our ability to close these transactions may often be subject to conditions
or approvals that are beyond our control. Consequently, these transactions, even if undertaken and announced,
may not close.

An acquisition, investment or new business relationship may result in unforeseen operating difficulties and
expenditures. In particular, we may encounter difficulties assimilating or integrating the businesses, technologies,
products, personnel or operations of the acquired companies, particularly if the key personnel of the acquired
company choose not to work for us, the company’s software is not easily adapted to work with ours or we have
difficulty retaining the customers of any acquired business due to changes in management or otherwise. Acquis-
itions may also disrupt our business, divert our resources and require significant management attention that
would otherwise be available for development of our business. Moreover, the anticipated benefits of any acquis-
ition, investment or business relationship may not be realized or we may be exposed to unknown liabilities. For
one or more of those transactions, we may:

• issue additional equity securities that would dilute our stockholders;

• use cash that we may need in the future to operate our business;

• incur debt on terms unfavorable to us or that we are unable to repay;

• incur large charges or substantial liabilities;

• encounter difficulties retaining key employees of the acquired company or integrating diverse software
codes or business cultures; and

• become subject to adverse tax consequences, substantial depreciation or deferred compensation charges.

Any of these risks could harm our business and operating results.
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We expect that integrating an acquired company’s operations may present challenges.

The integration of an acquired company requires, among other things, coordination of administrative, sales
and marketing, accounting and finance functions and expansion of information and management systems.
Integration may prove to be difficult initially due to the necessity of coordinating geographically separate orga-
nizations and integrating personnel with disparate business backgrounds and corporate cultures. We may not be
able to retain key employees of an acquired company. Additionally, the process of integrating a new product or
service may require a disproportionate amount of time and attention of our management and financial and other
resources. Any difficulties or problems encountered in the integration of a new product or service could have a
material adverse effect on our business.

The integration of an acquired company may cost more than we anticipate, and it is possible that we will
incur significant additional unforeseen costs in connection with the integration that may negatively impact our
earnings.

In addition, we may only be able to conduct limited due diligence on an acquired company’s operations.
Following an acquisition, we may be subject to unforeseen liabilities arising from an acquired company’s past or
present operations. These liabilities may be greater than the warranty and indemnity limitations we negotiate.
Any unforeseen liability that is greater than these warranty and indemnity limitations could have a negative
impact on our financial condition.

Even if successfully integrated, there can be no assurance that our operating performance after an acquis-
ition will be successful or will fulfill management’s objectives.

We may not be able to respond to rapid technological changes in time to address the needs of our
customers, which could have a material adverse effect on our sales and profitability.

The cloud-based, remote-connectivity services market is characterized by rapid technological change, the
frequent introduction of new services and evolving industry standards. Our ability to remain competitive will
depend in large part on our ability to continue to enhance our existing services and develop new service offerings
that keep pace with the market’s rapid technological developments. Additionally, to achieve market acceptance
for our services, we must effectively anticipate and offer services that meet changing customer demands in a
timely manner. Customers may require features and capabilities that our current services do not have. If we fail
to develop services that satisfy customer requirements in a timely and cost-effective manner, our ability to renew
our services with existing customers and our ability to create or increase demand for our services will be harmed
and our revenue and results of operations would be adversely affected.

We may not be able to capitalize on potential emerging market opportunities and new services that we
introduce may not generate the revenue and earnings we anticipated, which may adversely affect our
business.

Our business strategy involves identifying emerging market opportunities which we can capitalize on by
successfully developing and introducing new services designed to address those market opportunities. We have
made and expect to continue to make significant investments in research and development in order to capitalize
on potential emerging market opportunities that we have identified. If, despite our research and development
efforts, we are not able to successfully develop new services or if we are not able to fully penetrate the emerging
markets we have targeted, we may not be able to generate the revenue and earnings we anticipated and our busi-
ness and results of operations would be adversely affected.

We use a limited number of data centers to deliver our services. Any disruption of service at these facilities
could harm our business.

We host our services and serve all of our customers from seven third-party data center facilities located
throughout the world. We do not control the operation of these facilities. The owners of our data center facilities
have no obligation to renew their agreements with us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. If we are
unable to renew these agreements on commercially reasonable terms, we may be required to transfer to new data
center facilities, and we may incur significant costs and possible service interruption in connection with doing so.
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Any changes in third-party service levels at our data centers or any errors, defects, disruptions or other per-
formance problems with our services could harm our reputation and may damage our customers’ businesses.
Interruptions in our services might reduce our revenue, cause us to issue credits to customers, subject us to poten-
tial liability, cause customers to terminate their subscriptions or harm our renewal rates.

Our data centers are vulnerable to damage or interruption from human error, intentional bad acts, pan-
demics, earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, fires, war, terrorist attacks, power losses, hardware failures, systems
failures, telecommunications failures and similar events. At least one of our data facilities is located in an area
known for seismic activity, increasing our susceptibility to the risk that an earthquake could significantly harm
the operations of these facilities. The occurrence of a natural disaster or an act of terrorism, or vandalism or other
misconduct, a decision to close the facilities without adequate notice or other unanticipated problems could result
in lengthy interruptions in our services.

Failure to comply with data protection standards may cause us to lose the ability to offer our customers a
credit card payment option which would increase our costs of processing customer orders and make our
services less attractive to our customers, the majority of which purchase our services with a credit card.

Major credit card issuers have adopted data protection standards and have incorporated these standards into
their contracts with us. If we fail to maintain our compliance with the data protection and documentation stan-
dards adopted by the major credit card issuers and applicable to us, these issuers could terminate their agreements
with us, and we could lose our ability to offer our customers a credit card payment option. Most of our individual
and SMB customers purchase our services online with a credit card, and our business depends substantially upon
our ability to offer the credit card payment option. Any loss of our ability to offer our customers a credit card
payment option would make our services less attractive to them and hurt our business. Our administrative costs
related to customer payment processing would also increase significantly if we were not able to accept credit
card payments for our services.

Failure to effectively and efficiently service SMBs would adversely affect our ability to increase our
revenue.

We market and sell a significant amount of our services to SMBs. SMBs are challenging to reach, acquire
and retain in a cost-effective manner. To grow our revenue quickly, we must add new customers, sell additional
services to existing customers and encourage existing customers to renew their subscriptions. Selling to and
retaining SMBs is more difficult than selling to and retaining large enterprise customers because SMB customers
generally:

• have high failure rates;

• are price sensitive;

• are difficult to reach with targeted sales campaigns;

• have high churn rates in part because of the scale of their businesses and the ease of switching services;
and

• generate less revenues per customer and per transaction.

In addition, SMBs frequently have limited budgets and may choose to spend funds on items other than our
services. Moreover, SMBs are more likely to be significantly affected by economic downturns than larger, more
established companies, and if these organizations experience economic hardship, they may be unwilling or
unable to expend resources on IT.

If we are unable to market and sell our services to SMBs with competitive pricing and in a cost-effective
manner, our ability to grow our revenue quickly and become profitable will be harmed.
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The markets in which we participate are competitive, with low barriers to entry, and if we do not compete
effectively, our operating results may be harmed.

The markets for remote-connectivity solutions are competitive and rapidly changing, with relatively low
barriers to entry. With the introduction of new technologies and market entrants, we expect competition to
intensify in the future. In addition, pricing pressures and increased competition generally could result in reduced
sales, reduced margins or the failure of our services to achieve or maintain widespread market acceptance. Often
we compete against existing services that our potential customers have already made significant expenditures to
acquire and implement.

Certain of our competitors offer, or may in the future offer, lower priced, or free, products or services that
compete with our services. This competition may result in reduced prices and a substantial loss of customers for
our services or a reduction in our revenue.

Our services compete with large, established competitors like Citrix Systems, WebEx (a division of Cisco
Systems), Microsoft, IBM, Apple, Google and Adobe. Certain of our services also compete with smaller com-
petitors such as GFI, TeamViewer, Splashtop, OKTA, BlueJeans, LivePerson, Dropbox, BOX, SugarSync and
PTC. Many of our actual and potential competitors enjoy competitive advantages over us, such as greater name
recognition, longer operating histories, more varied services and larger marketing budgets, as well as greater
financial, technical and other resources. In addition, many of our competitors have established marketing
relationships and access to larger customer bases, and have major distribution agreements with consultants, sys-
tem integrators and resellers. If we are not able to compete effectively, our operating results will be harmed.

Industry consolidation may result in increased competition.

Some of our competitors have made or may make acquisitions or may enter into partnerships or other strate-
gic relationships to offer a more comprehensive service than they individually had offered. In addition, new
entrants not currently considered to be competitors may enter the market through acquisitions, partnerships or
strategic relationships. We expect these trends to continue as companies attempt to strengthen or maintain their
market positions. Many of the companies driving this trend have significantly greater financial, technical and
other resources than we do and may be better positioned to acquire and offer complementary services and tech-
nologies. The companies resulting from such combinations may create more compelling service offerings and
may offer greater pricing flexibility than we can or may engage in business practices that make it more difficult
for us to compete effectively, including on the basis of price, sales and marketing programs, technology or serv-
ice functionality. These pressures could result in a substantial loss of customers or a reduction in our revenues.

Original equipment manufacturers may adopt solutions provided by our competitors.

Original equipment manufacturers may in the future seek to build the capability for remote-connectivity
solutions into their products. We may compete with our competitors to sell our services to, or partner with, these
manufacturers. Our ability to attract and partner with these manufacturers will, in large part, depend on the
competitiveness of our services. If we fail to attract or partner with, or our competitors are successful in attracting
or partnering with, these manufacturers, our revenue and results of operations would be affected adversely.

Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate in the future. As a result, we may fail to meet or exceed the
expectations of research analysts or investors, which could cause our stock price to decline.

Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are outside of
our control. If our quarterly operating results or guidance fall below the expectations of research analysts or
investors, the price of our common stock could decline substantially. Fluctuations in our quarterly operating
results or guidance may be due to a number of factors, including, but not limited to, those listed below:

• our ability to renew existing customers, increase sales to existing customers and attract new customers;

• the amount and timing of operating costs and capital expenditures related to the operation, maintenance
and expansion of our business;

• service outages or security breaches;
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• whether we meet the service level commitments in our agreements with our customers;

• changes in our pricing policies or those of our competitors;

• our ability to successfully implement strategic business model changes;

• the timing and success of new application and service introductions and upgrades by us or our com-
petitors;

• changes in sales compensation plans or organizational structure;

• the timing of costs related to the development or acquisition of technologies, services or businesses;

• seasonal variations or other cyclicality in the demand for our services;

• general economic, industry and market conditions and those conditions specific to Internet usage and
online businesses;

• litigation, including class action litigation, involving our company, our services, or our general industry;

• the purchasing and budgeting cycles of our customers;

• the financial condition of our customers; and

• geopolitical events such as war, threat of war or terrorist acts.

We believe that our quarterly revenue and operating results may vary significantly in the future and that
period-to-period comparisons of our operating results may not be meaningful. You should not rely on past results
as an indication of future performance.

If we fail to maintain proper and effective internal controls, our ability to produce accurate and timely
financial statements could be impaired, which could harm our operating results, our ability to operate our
business and investors’ views of us.

Ensuring that we have adequate internal financial and accounting controls and procedures in place so that
we can produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis is a costly and time-consuming effort. Our
internal controls over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States of America. In addition, Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, requires an annual management assessment of the effectiveness of our internal
controls over financial reporting and a report from our independent registered public accounting firm addressing
the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting. We have documented, tested and improved, to
the extent necessary, our internal controls over financial reporting for the year ended December 31, 2014. If in
the future we are not able to comply with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in a timely
manner, or if as part of our process of documenting and testing our internal controls over financial reporting, we
or our independent registered public accounting firm identify deficiencies or areas for further attention and
improvement, implementing appropriate changes to our internal controls may distract our officers and employ-
ees, entail substantial costs to modify our existing processes and take significant time to complete. These changes
may not, however, be effective in maintaining the adequacy of our internal controls, and any failure to maintain
that adequacy, or consequent inability to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis, could increase
our operating costs and harm our business. In addition, investors’ perceptions that our internal controls are
inadequate or that we are unable to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis may harm our stock
price and make it more difficult for us to effectively market and sell our services to new and existing customers.

We provide minimum service level commitments to some of our customers, the failure of which to meet
could cause us to issue credits for future services or pay penalties, which could significantly harm our
revenue.

Some of our customer agreements now, and may in the future, provide minimum service level commitments
regarding items such as uptime, functionality or performance. If we are unable to meet the stated service level
commitments for these customers or our services suffer extended periods of unavailability, we are or may be
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contractually obligated to provide these customers with credits for future services or pay other penalties. Our
revenue could be significantly impacted if we are unable to meet our service level commitments and are required
to provide a significant amount of our services at no cost or pay other penalties. We do not currently have any
reserves on our balance sheet for these commitments.

If we fail to manage our growth effectively, we may be unable to execute our business plan, maintain high
levels of service or address competitive challenges adequately.

For the last three fiscal years, our revenue has grown from $138.8 million in 2012 to $166.3 million in 2013
and to $222.0 million in 2014. Our growth has placed, and may continue to place, a significant strain on our
managerial, administrative, operational, financial and other resources. We intend to further expand our overall
business, customer base, headcount and operations both domestically and internationally. Creating a global orga-
nization and managing a geographically dispersed workforce will require substantial management effort and
significant additional investment in our infrastructure. We will be required to continue to improve our opera-
tional, financial and management controls and our reporting procedures and we may not be able to do so effec-
tively. As such, we may be unable to manage our expenses effectively in the future, which may negatively impact
our gross profit or operating expenses in any particular quarter.

If we do not effectively expand and train our work force, our future operating results will suffer.

We plan to continue to expand our work force both domestically and internationally to increase our
customer base and revenue. We believe that there is significant competition for qualified personnel with the skills
and technical knowledge that we require. Our ability to achieve significant revenue growth will depend, in large
part, on our success in recruiting, training and retaining sufficient numbers of personnel to support our growth.
New hires require significant training and, in most cases, take significant time before they achieve full pro-
ductivity. Our recent hires and planned hires may not become as productive as we expect, and we may be unable
to hire or retain sufficient numbers of qualified individuals. If our recruiting, training and retention efforts are not
successful or do not generate a corresponding increase in revenue, our business will be harmed.

Our sales cycles for enterprise customers can be long, unpredictable and require considerable time and
expense, which may cause our operating results to fluctuate.

The timing of our revenue from sales to enterprise customers is difficult to predict. These efforts require us
to educate our customers about the use and benefit of our services, including the technical capabilities and poten-
tial cost savings to an organization. Enterprise customers typically undertake a significant evaluation process that
has in the past resulted in a lengthy sales cycle, typically several months. We spend substantial time, effort and
money on our enterprise sales efforts without any assurance that our efforts will produce any sales. In addition,
service subscriptions are frequently subject to budget constraints and unplanned administrative, processing and
other delays. If sales expected from a specific customer for a particular quarter are not realized in that quarter or
at all, our results could fall short of public expectations and our business, operating results and financial con-
dition could be adversely affected.

Our long-term success depends, in part, on our ability to expand the sales of our services to customers
located outside of the United States, and thus our business is susceptible to risks associated with
international sales and operations.

We currently maintain offices and have sales personnel outside of the United States and are expanding our
international operations. Our international expansion efforts may not be successful. In addition, conducting
international operations subjects us to new risks that we have not generally faced in the United States. These risks
include:

• localization of our services, including translation into foreign languages and adaptation for local practices
and regulatory requirements;

• lack of familiarity with and unexpected changes in foreign regulatory requirements;

• longer accounts receivable payment cycles and difficulties in collecting accounts receivable;
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• difficulties in managing and staffing international operations;

• fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

• potentially adverse tax consequences, including the complexities of foreign value added or other tax sys-
tems and restrictions on the repatriation of earnings;

• dependence on certain third parties, including channel partners with whom we do not have extensive
experience;

• the burdens of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws and legal standards;

• increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities;

• political, social and economic instability abroad, terrorist attacks and security concerns in general; and

• reduced or varied protection for intellectual property rights in some countries.

Operating in international markets also requires significant management attention and financial resources.
The investment and additional resources required to establish operations and manage growth in other countries
may not produce desired levels of revenue or profitability.

Adverse economic conditions or reduced IT spending may adversely impact our revenues and profitability.

Our business depends on the overall demand for IT and on the economic health of our current and pro-
spective customers. The use of our service is often discretionary and may involve a commitment of capital and
other resources. Weak economic conditions in the United States, European Union and other key international
economies may affect the rate of IT spending and could adversely impact our customers’ ability or willingness to
purchase our services, delay prospective customers’ purchasing decisions, reduce the value or duration of their
subscription contracts, or affect renewal rates, all of which could have an adverse effect on our business, operat-
ing results and financial condition.

Our success depends in large part on our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights.

We rely on a combination of copyright, service mark, trademark and trade secret laws, as well as con-
fidentiality procedures and contractual restrictions, to establish and protect our proprietary rights, all of which
provide only limited protection. In addition, we have twelve issued patents and eleven patents pending, and we
are in the process of filing additional patents. We cannot assure you that any patents will issue from our currently
pending patent applications in a manner that gives us the protection that we seek, if at all, or that any future pat-
ents issued to us will not be challenged, invalidated or circumvented. Any patents that may issue in the future
from pending or future patent applications may not provide sufficiently broad protection or they may not prove to
be enforceable in actions against alleged infringers. Also, we cannot assure you that any future service mark or
trademark registrations will be issued for pending or future applications or that any registered service marks or
trademarks will be enforceable or provide adequate protection of our proprietary rights.

We endeavor to enter into agreements with our employees and contractors and agreements with parties with
whom we do business to limit access to and disclosure of our proprietary information. The steps we have taken,
however, may not prevent unauthorized use or the reverse engineering of our technology. Moreover, others may
independently develop technologies that are competitive to ours or infringe our intellectual property. Enforce-
ment of our intellectual property rights also depends on our successful legal actions against these infringers, but
these actions may not be successful, even when our rights have been infringed.

Furthermore, effective patent, trademark, service mark, copyright and trade secret protection may not be
available in every country in which our services are available. In addition, the legal standards relating to the val-
idity, enforceability and scope of protection of intellectual property rights in Internet-related industries are
uncertain and still evolving.
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Our use of “open source” software could negatively affect our ability to sell our services and subject us to
possible litigation.

A portion of the technologies we license incorporate so-called “open source” software, and we may
incorporate additional open source software in the future. Open source software is generally licensed by its
authors or other third parties under open source licenses. If we fail to comply with these licenses, we may be
subject to certain conditions, including requirements that we offer our services that incorporate the open source
software for no cost, that we make available source code for modifications or derivative works we create based
upon, incorporating or using the open source software and/or that we license such modifications or derivative
works under the terms of the particular open source license. If an author or other third party that distributes such
open source software were to allege that we had not complied with the conditions of one or more of these
licenses, we could be required to incur significant legal expenses defending against such allegations and could be
subject to significant damages, enjoined from the sale of our services that contained the open source software and
required to comply with the foregoing conditions, which could disrupt the distribution and sale of some of our
services.

We rely on third-party software, including server software and licenses from third parties to use patented
intellectual property that is required for the development of our services, which may be difficult to obtain or
which could cause errors or failures of our services.

We rely on software licensed from third parties to offer our services, including server software from Micro-
soft and patented third-party technology. In addition, we may need to obtain future licenses from third parties to
use intellectual property associated with the development of our services, which might not be available to us on
acceptable terms, or at all. Any loss of the right to use any software required for the development and main-
tenance of our services could result in delays in the provision of our services until equivalent technology is either
developed by us, or, if available, is identified, obtained and integrated, which could harm our business. Any
errors or defects in third-party software could result in errors or a failure of our services which could harm our
business.

Material defects or errors in the software we use to deliver our services could harm our reputation, result in
significant costs to us and impair our ability to sell our services.

The software applications underlying our services are inherently complex and may contain material defects
or errors, particularly when first introduced or when new versions or enhancements are released. We have from
time to time found defects in our services, and new errors in our existing services may be detected in the future.
Any defects that cause interruptions to the availability of our services could result in:

• a reduction in sales or delay in market acceptance of our services;

• sales credits or refunds to our customers;

• loss of existing customers and difficulty in attracting new customers;

• diversion of development resources;

• harm to our reputation; and

• increased insurance costs.

After the release of our services, defects or errors may also be identified from time to time by our internal
team and by our customers. The costs incurred in correcting any material defects or errors in our services may be
substantial and could harm our operating results.

Government regulation of the Internet and e-commerce and of the international exchange of certain
technologies is subject to possible unfavorable changes, and our failure to comply with applicable
regulations could harm our business and operating results.

As Internet commerce continues to evolve, increasing regulation by federal, state or foreign governments
becomes more likely. For example, we believe increased regulation is likely in the area of data privacy, and laws

19



and regulations applying to the solicitation, collection, processing or use of personal or consumer information
could affect our customers’ ability to use and share data, potentially reducing demand for our products and serv-
ices. In addition, taxation of products and services provided over the Internet or other charges imposed by
government agencies or by private organizations for accessing the Internet may also be imposed. Any regulation
imposing greater fees for Internet use or restricting the exchange of information over the Internet could result in
reduced growth or a decline in the use of the Internet and could diminish the viability of our Internet-based serv-
ices, which could harm our business and operating results.

Our software products contain encryption technologies, certain types of which are subject to U.S. and for-
eign export control regulations and, in some foreign countries, restrictions on importation and/or use. We have
submitted our encryption products for technical review under U.S. export regulations and have received the
necessary approvals. Any failure on our part to comply with encryption or other applicable export control
requirements could result in financial penalties or other sanctions under the U.S. export regulations, which could
harm our business and operating results. Foreign regulatory restrictions could impair our access to technologies
that we seek for improving our products and services and may also limit or reduce the demand for our products
and services outside of the United States.

Our operating results may be harmed if we are required to collect sales or other related taxes for our
subscription services in jurisdictions where we have not historically done so.

Primarily due to the nature of our services in certain states and countries, we do not believe we are required
to collect sales or other related taxes from our customers in certain states or countries. However, one or more
other states or countries may seek to impose sales or other tax collection obligations on us, including for past
sales by us or our resellers and other partners. A successful assertion that we should be collecting sales or other
related taxes on our services could result in substantial tax liabilities for past sales, discourage customers from
purchasing our services or otherwise harm our business and operating results.

The loss of key employees or an inability to attract and retain additional personnel may impair our ability to
grow our business.

We are highly dependent upon the continued service and performance of our executive management team as
well as other key technical and sales employees. These key employees are not party to an employment agreement
with us, and they may terminate employment with us at any time with no advance notice. The replacement of
these key employees likely would involve significant time and costs, and the loss of these key employees may
significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our business objectives.

We face intense competition for qualified individuals from numerous technology, software and manufactur-
ing companies. For example, our competitors may be able attract and retain a more qualified engineering team by
offering more competitive compensation packages. If we are unable to attract new engineers and retain our cur-
rent engineers, we may not be able to develop and maintain our services at the same levels as our competitors and
we may, therefore, lose potential customers and sales penetration in certain markets. Our failure to attract and
retain suitably qualified individuals could have an adverse effect on our ability to implement our business plan
and, as a result, our ability to compete would decrease, our operating results would suffer and our revenues
would decrease.

Our business is substantially dependent on market demand for, and acceptance of, the cloud-based model
for the use of software.

We derive, and expect to continue to derive, substantially all of our revenue from the sale of cloud-based
services. As a result, widespread acceptance and use of the cloud-based business model is critical to our future
growth and success. Under the perpetual or periodic license model for software procurement, users of the soft-
ware typically run applications on their hardware. Because companies are generally predisposed to maintaining
control of their IT systems and infrastructure, there may be resistance to the concept of accessing the function-
ality that software provides as a service through a third party. If the market for cloud-based, software solutions
ceases to grow or grows more slowly than we currently anticipate, demand for our services could be negatively
affected.
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Growth of our business may be adversely affected if businesses, IT support providers or consumers do not
adopt remote access, support and collaboration solutions more widely.

Our services employ new and emerging technologies for remote access, support and collaboration. Our tar-
get customers may hesitate to accept the risks inherent in applying and relying on new technologies or method-
ologies to supplant traditional methods of remote connectivity. Our business will not be successful if our target
customers do not accept the use of our remote access and remote support technologies.

Our success depends on our customers’ continued high-speed access to the Internet and the continued
reliability of the Internet infrastructure.

Because our services are designed to work over the Internet, our revenue growth depends on our customers’
high-speed access to the Internet, as well as the continued maintenance and development of the Internet infra-
structure. The future delivery of our services will depend on third-party Internet service providers to expand
high-speed Internet access, to maintain a reliable network with the necessary speed, data capacity and security,
and to develop complementary products and services, including high-speed modems, for providing reliable and
timely Internet access and services. The success of our business depends directly on the continued accessibility,
maintenance and improvement of the Internet as a convenient means of customer interaction, as well as an effi-
cient medium for the delivery and distribution of information by businesses to their employees. All of these fac-
tors are out of our control.

To the extent that the Internet continues to experience increased numbers of users, frequency of use or
bandwidth requirements, the Internet may become congested and be unable to support the demands placed on it,
and its performance or reliability may decline. Any future Internet outages or delays could adversely affect our
ability to provide services to our customers.

RISKS RELATED TO OWNERSHIP OF OUR COMMON STOCK

Our failure to raise additional capital or generate the cash flows necessary to expand our operations and
invest in our services could reduce our ability to compete successfully.

We may need to raise additional funds, and we may not be able to obtain additional debt or equity financing
on favorable terms, if at all. If we raise additional equity financing, our stockholders may experience significant
dilution of their ownership interests, and the per share value of our common stock could decline. If we engage in
debt financing, we may be required to accept terms that restrict our ability to pay dividends or make distributions,
incur additional indebtedness and force us to maintain specified liquidity or other ratios. If we need additional
capital and cannot raise it on acceptable terms, we may not be able to, among other things:

• develop or enhance our services;

• continue to expand our development, sales and marketing organizations;

• acquire complementary technologies, products or businesses;

• expand our operations, in the United States or internationally;

• hire, train and retain employees; or

• respond to competitive pressures or unanticipated working capital requirements.

Our stock price may be volatile, and the market price of our common stock may drop in the future.

Prior to the completion of our initial public offering, or IPO, in July 2009, there was no public market for
shares of our common stock. During the period from our IPO until February 13, 2015, our common stock has
traded as high as $53.38 and as low as $15.15. An active, liquid and orderly market for our common stock may
not be sustained, which could depress the trading price of our common stock. Some of the factors that may cause
the market price of our common stock to fluctuate include:

• fluctuations in our quarterly financial results or the quarterly financial results of companies perceived to
be similar to us;

• fluctuations in our recorded revenue, even during periods of significant sales order activity;
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• changes in estimates of our financial results or recommendations by securities analysts;

• failure of any of our services to achieve or maintain market acceptance;

• changes in market valuations of similar companies;

• announcements regarding changes to our current or planned products or services;

• success of competitive products or services;

• changes in our capital structure, such as future issuances of securities or the incurrence of debt;

• announcements by us or our competitors of significant services, contracts, acquisitions or strategic alli-
ances;

• regulatory developments in the United States, foreign countries or both;

• litigation, including class action litigation, involving our company, our services, or our general industry,
including announcements regarding developments in on-going litigation matters;

• additions or departures of key personnel;

• general perception of the future of the remote-connectivity market or our services;

• investors’ general perception of us; and

• changes in general economic, industry and market conditions.

In addition, if the market for technology stocks or the stock market in general experiences a loss of investor
confidence, the trading price of our common stock could decline for reasons unrelated to our business, financial
condition or results of operations. If any of the foregoing occurs, it could cause our stock price to fall and may
expose us to class action lawsuits that, even if unsuccessful, could be costly to defend and a distraction to
management.

A significant portion of our total outstanding shares may be sold into the public market at any time, which
could cause the market price of our common stock to drop significantly, even if our business is doing well.

If our existing stockholders sell a large number of shares of our common stock or the public market per-
ceives that such existing stockholders might sell shares of common stock, the trading price of our common stock
could decline significantly.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about us, our
business or our market, or if they publish a negative report or change their recommendations regarding our
stock adversely, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock is influenced by the research and reports that industry or secu-
rities analysts publish about us, our business, our market or our competitors. If any of the analysts who cover us
or may cover us in the future publish a negative report or change their recommendation regarding our stock
adversely, or provide more favorable relative recommendations about our competitors, our stock price would
likely decline. If any analyst who covers us or may cover us in the future were to cease coverage of our company
or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could
cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.

Our management has broad discretion over the use of our existing cash resources and might not use such
funds in ways that increase the value of our common stock.

Our management will continue to have broad discretion to use our cash resources. Our management might
not apply these cash resources in ways that increase the value of our common stock.
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We do not expect to declare any dividends in the foreseeable future.

We do not anticipate declaring any cash dividends to holders of our common stock in the foreseeable future.
Consequently, stockholders must rely on sales of their common stock after price appreciation, which may never
occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on the value of their shares of our common stock.

As a public company, we incur significant additional costs which could harm our operating results.

As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses, including costs associated
with public company reporting requirements. We also have incurred and will continue to incur costs associated
with current corporate governance requirements, including requirements under Section 404 and other provisions
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well as rules implemented by the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC,
and The NASDAQ Global Select Market. The expenses incurred by public companies for reporting and corporate
governance purposes have increased dramatically. We expect these rules and regulations to substantially increase
our legal and financial compliance costs and to make some activities more time-consuming and costly. We also
expect these new rules and regulations may make it more difficult and more expensive for us to maintain direc-
tor and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur
substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar coverage previously available. As a result, it may be more
difficult for us to attract and retain qualified individuals to serve on our board of directors or as our executive
officers.

Certain stockholders could attempt to influence changes within the Company which could adversely affect
the Company’s operations, financial condition and the value of our common stock.

Our stockholders may from time-to-time seek to acquire a controlling stake in our company, engage in
proxy solicitations, advance shareholder proposals or otherwise attempt to effect changes. Campaigns by stock-
holders to effect changes at publicly traded companies are sometimes led by investors seeking to increase short-
term stockholder value through actions such as financial restructuring, increased debt, special dividends, stock
repurchases or sales of assets or the entire company. Responding to proxy contests and other actions by activist
stockholders can be costly and time-consuming, disrupting our operations and diverting the attention of our
Board of Directors and senior management from the pursuit of business strategies. These actions could adversely
affect our operations, financial condition and the value of our common stock.

Anti-takeover provisions contained in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions of
Delaware law, could impair a takeover attempt.

Our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and Delaware law contain provisions that could have the effect of
rendering more difficult or discouraging an acquisition deemed undesirable by our board of directors. Our corpo-
rate governance documents include provisions:

• authorizing blank check preferred stock, which could be issued with voting, liquidation, dividend and
other rights superior to our common stock;

• limiting the liability of, and providing indemnification to, our directors and officers;

• limiting the ability of our stockholders to call and bring business before special meetings and to take
action by written consent in lieu of a meeting;

• requiring advance notice of stockholder proposals for business to be conducted at meetings of our stock-
holders and for nominations of candidates for election to our board of directors;

• controlling the procedures for the conduct and scheduling of board of directors and stockholder meetings;

• providing the board of directors with the express power to postpone previously scheduled annual meet-
ings and to cancel previously scheduled special meetings;

• limiting the determination of the number of directors on our board of directors and the filling of vacancies
or newly created seats on the board to our board of directors then in office; and

• providing that directors may be removed by stockholders only for cause.
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These provisions, alone or together, could delay hostile takeovers and changes in control of our company or
changes in our management.

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subject to provisions of Delaware law, including Section 203 of the
Delaware General Corporation law, which prevents some stockholders holding more than 15% of our outstanding
common stock from engaging in certain business combinations without approval of the holders of substantially
all of our outstanding common stock. Any provision of our certificate of incorporation or bylaws or Delaware
law that has the effect of delaying or deterring a change in control could limit the opportunity for our stock-
holders to receive a premium for their shares of our common stock, and could also affect the price that some
investors are willing to pay for our common stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

As of February 20, 2015, our principal facilities consist of approximately 101,821 square feet of office space at
our U.S. headquarters located at 320 Summer Street, Boston, MA 02210 and approximately 37,725 square feet of
space at our development facility located in Hungary. In December 2014, we entered into a lease for additional
office space in Boston, MA which consists of approximately 117,801 square feet of office space located at 333
Summer Street, Boston, MA 02210. We also have leased additional office space in San Francisco, California,
Wichita, Kansas and in Hungary, Ireland, Australia, the United Kingdom and India. We believe our facilities are
sufficient to support our needs through 2015 and that additional space will be available in the future on commer-
cially reasonable terms as needed.

We lease space in third-party facilities from which we operate our seven data centers, four of which are
located in the United States, one of which is located in Europe, one of which is located in Asia and one of which
is located in Australia.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On September 8, 2010, 01 Communique Laboratory, Inc., or 01, filed a complaint that named us as a defend-
ant in a lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia (Civil Action No. 1:10cv1007)
alleging that we infringed U.S. Patent No. 6,928,479, or the ‘479 Patent, which is owned by 01 and has claims
directed to a particular application or system for providing a private communication portal from one computer to
a second computer. The complaint sought damages in an unspecified amount and injunctive relief. On April 1,
2011, the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia granted our motion for summary judgment of
non-infringement. The court issued a written order regarding this decision on May 4, 2011. On May 13, 2011, 01
filed a notice of appeal appealing the court’s ruling granting summary judgment. On July 31, 2012, the U.S.
Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit vacated the lower court’s summary judgment of non-infringement ruling
and remanded the case back to the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia with revised claim
construction. The trial commenced on March 18, 2013 and on March 26, 2013, a jury in the Eastern District of
Virginia found that our products do not infringe the ‘479 Patent as previously asserted by 01. The court issued a
written order regarding this decision on April 2, 2013. On June 26, 2013, 01 filed a notice of appeal seeking to
appeal the jury’s non-infringement verdict. On June 9, 2014, the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit
affirmed the jury’s non-infringement verdict. On November 21, 2014, the U.S. District Court for the Eastern
District of Virginia issued its final order, awarding costs to us, which 01 paid on December 3, 2014, formally
concluding this matter.

On August 26, 2014, Sensory Technologies, LLC, or Sensory, filed a complaint against us in the U.S. Dis-
trict Court for the Southern District of Indiana (Case No. 1:14-cv-1406). The complaint, which was served upon
us on August 27, 2014, alleges, among other things, that we have infringed upon Sensory’s JOIN® trademark,
which is registered to Sensory under U.S. Trademark Registration No. 3622883. The complaint seeks damages in
an unspecified amount and injunctive relief. We believe we have meritorious defenses to the claims and intend to
defend the lawsuit vigorously. Given the inherent unpredictability of litigation and the fact that this litigation is
still in its early stages, we are unable to predict the outcome of this litigation or reasonably estimate a possible
loss or range of loss associated with this litigation at this time.
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On August 28, 2014, a putative class action complaint was filed against us in the U.S. District Court for the
Eastern District of California (Case No. 1:14-cv-01355) by an individual on behalf of himself and on behalf of all
other similarly situated individuals, or collectively, the Plaintiffs. After we filed a motion to dismiss the com-
plaint on January 30, 2015, the Plaintiffs filed an amended complaint on February 17, 2015. The amended com-
plaint includes claims made under California’s False Advertising Act and Unfair Competition Law and relates to
the marketing and sale of our Ignition for iOS application, or the App, and the Plaintiffs’ continued use of the
App. The Plaintiffs’ complaint seeks restitution, damages in an unspecified amount, attorneys’ fees and costs,
and unspecified equitable and injunctive relief. We believe we have meritorious defenses to the claims and intend
to defend the lawsuit vigorously. Given the inherent unpredictability of litigation and the fact that this litigation is
still in its early stages, we are unable to predict the outcome of this litigation or reasonably estimate a possible
loss or range of loss associated with this litigation at this time.

We are from time to time subject to various legal proceedings and claims, either asserted or unasserted,
which arise in the ordinary course of business. While the outcome of these other claims cannot be predicted with
certainty, management does not believe that the outcome of any of these other legal matters will have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

None.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Certain Information Regarding the Trading of Our Common Stock

Our common stock began trading under the symbol “LOGM” on the NASDAQ Global Select Market on
July 1, 2009. Prior to that date, there was no established public trading market for our common stock. The
following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sale price per share of our common stock on
the NASDAQ Global Select Market:

High Low

2013
First Quarter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $24.51 $16.12

Second Quarter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $26.54 $16.74

Third Quarter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $32.29 $24.49

Fourth Quarter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $34.56 $29.25

2014
First Quarter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $47.57 $31.08

Second Quarter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $47.69 $37.06

Third Quarter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $50.00 $39.06

Fourth Quarter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $53.38 $40.92

Holders of Our Common Stock

As of February 13, 2015, there were 10 holders of record of shares of our common stock.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain any future
earnings to finance our research and development efforts, improvements to our existing services, the develop-
ment of our proprietary technologies and the expansion of our business. We do not intend to declare or pay cash
dividends on our capital stock in the foreseeable future. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the
discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon a number of factors, including our results of operations,
financial condition, future prospects, contractual restrictions, restrictions imposed by applicable law and other
factors our board of directors deems relevant.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities

(a) Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

We did not sell any unregistered securities during the year ended December 31, 2014.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

Information regarding our equity compensation plans and the securities authorized for issuance thereunder
is set forth herein under Part III, Item 12 below.
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Purchases of Equity Securities

Period

Total
Number
of Shares

Purchased

Average
Price

per Share

Total
Number of

Shares
Purchased
as Part of
Publicly

Announced
Plans or

Programs(1)

Maximum
Number (or

Approximate
Dollar Value)
of Shares that

may yet be
Purchased
Under the
Plans or

Programs(1)

October 1, 2014 — October 31, 2014 . . . . . . . . . 57,500 $44.58 57,500 82,323,944

November 1, 2014 — November 30, 2014 . . . . . 67,901 49.99 67,901 78,929,805

December 1, 2014 — December 31, 2014 . . . . . 90,330 49.82 90,330 74,429,151

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 215,731 $48.48 215,731

(1) Effective October 20, 2014, our board of directors approved a new $75 million share repurchase program,
which is in addition to our existing $50 million share repurchase program which had been approved on
August 13, 2013. Share repurchases are made from time-to-time in the open market, in privately negotiated
transactions or otherwise, in accordance with applicable securities laws and regulations. During the year
ended December 31, 2014, we repurchased 843,574 shares of our common stock.
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Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative total return to stockholders for our common stock for the
period from July 1, 2009, the effective date of our initial public offering, through December 31, 2014 against the
NASDAQ Composite Index and the NASDAQ Computer and Data Processing Index.

The comparison assumes $100.00 was invested in our common stock, the NASDAQ Composite Index and
the NASDAQ Computer and Data Processing Index and assumes reinvestment of dividends, if any. The graph
assumes the initial value of our common stock on July 1, 2009 was the closing sale price on that day of $20.02
per share and not the initial offering price to the public of $16.00 per share. The stock performance on the graph
below is not necessarily indicative of future price performance.
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COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN* 
Among LogMeIn, Inc., the NASDAQ Composite Index,
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*$100 invested on 12/31/09 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.

This performance graph shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, or incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except as shall be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

You should read the following selected financial data together with our consolidated financial statements
and the related notes appearing at the end of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the “Management’s Dis-
cussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” section of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. Our historical results for any prior period are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected in
any future period.

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

(In thousands, except for per share data)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $101,057 $119,461 $138,837 $166,258 $221,956

Cost of revenue(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,124 10,574 14,504 18,816 28,732

Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 91,933 108,887 124,333 147,442 193,224

Operating expenses:

Research and development(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,214 20,780 26,361 29,023 33,516

Sales and marketing(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45,869 57,156 70,058 88,794 119,508

General and administrative(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,319 19,975 21,338 29,181 30,526

Legal settlements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 1,250 — 1,688 —

Amortization of acquired intangibles(1) . . . . . . . . . 338 228 565 682 987

Total operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 73,740 99,389 118,322 149,368 184,537

Income (loss) from operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,193 9,498 6,011 (1,926) 8,687

Interest income, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 634 862 887 547 602

Other (expense) income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (219) (565) (641) (89) 105

Income (loss) before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,608 9,795 6,257 (1,468) 9,394

Benefit from (provision for) income taxes . . . . . . . . . . 2,491 (4,034) (2,691) (6,214) (1,439)

Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 21,099 $ 5,761 $ 3,566 $ (7,682) $ 7,955

Net income (loss) per share:

Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.91 $ 0.24 $ 0.14 $ (0.32) $ 0.33

Diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.85 $ 0.23 $ 0.14 $ (0.32) $ 0.31

Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23,244 24,176 24,711 24,351 24,385

Diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,840 25,155 25,356 24,351 25,386
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(1) Includes stock-based compensation expense and intangible amortization expense as indicated in the follow-
ing table:

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

(In thousands)

Cost of revenue:

Stock-based compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 261 $ 316 $ 484 $ 706 $ 1,107

Intangible amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 251 566 1,552 1,820 3,959

Research and development:

Stock-based compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 638 1,477 2,826 3,761 3,653

Sales and marketing:

Stock-based compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,553 2,700 4,962 7,242 9,033

General and administrative:

Stock-based compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,540 4,432 6,520 8,005 10,976

Amortization of acquired intangibles:

Intangible amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 338 228 565 682 987

As of December 31,

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents and short-term marketable

securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $167,424 $198,644 $212,092 $189,556 $201,169

Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 186,677 232,057 279,538 279,613 317,849

Deferred revenue, including long-term portion . . . . . . 42,793 58,264 69,649 85,163 105,250

Total liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 56,299 76,251 94,901 112,274 144,005

Total equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 130,378 155,806 184,637 167,339 173,844
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations
together with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes and other financial information
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Some of the information contained in this discussion
and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including information with respect to
our plans and strategy for our business and related financing, includes forward-looking statements that involve
risks and uncertainties. You should review the “Risk Factors” section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a
discussion of important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results described in
or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.

Overview

LogMeIn provides a portfolio of cloud-based service offerings which make it possible for people and busi-
nesses to simply and securely connect to their workplace, colleagues and customers. Our services free millions of
people to work from virtually anywhere on any Internet enabled device, empower IT professionals to securely
embrace today’s mobile and cloud-centric workplace, transform how companies engage and support their
customers, and help businesses bring the next generation of connected products to market. These services range
from free downloadable mobile and web-based collaboration apps to enterprise grade professional helpdesk sol-
utions to a cloud-based platform for the Internet of Things, all of which are accessible from anywhere with an
Internet connection.

We offer both free and fee based, or premium, services. Sales of our premium services are generated
through word-of-mouth referrals, web-based advertising, online search, off-line advertising the conversion of
free users and expiring free trials to paid subscriptions and direct marketing to new and existing customers.

We derive our revenue principally from subscription fees from SMBs, IT service providers, mobile carriers,
customer service centers, original equipment manufacturers, or OEMs, and consumers and to a lesser extent,
from the delivery of professional services primarily related to our Xively business. The majority of our customers
subscribe to our services on an annual basis. Our revenue is driven primarily by the number and type of our
premium services for which our paying customers subscribe. For the year ended December 31, 2014, we gen-
erated revenues of $222.0 million, compared to $166.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, an
increase of approximately 34%.

Through December 31, 2014, we have primarily funded our operations through the sale of common stock in
connection with our initial and secondary offerings which resulted in proceeds of $85.7 million, the sale of
redeemable convertible preferred stock which resulted in proceeds of approximately $27.8 million and cash flows
from operations. We earned net income of $3.6 million for 2012, incurred a net loss of $7.7 million for 2013, and
earned net income of $8.0 million for 2014. We expect to continue making significant future expenditures to
develop and expand our business.

Certain Trends and Uncertainties

The following represents a summary of certain trends and uncertainties, which could have a significant
impact on our financial condition and results of operations. This summary is not intended to be a complete list of
potential trends and uncertainties that could impact our business in the long or short term. The summary, how-
ever, should be considered along with the factors identified in the section titled “Risk Factors” of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

• There is frequent litigation in the software and technology industries based on allegations of infringement
or other violations of intellectual property rights. We have been, and may in the future be, subject to third
party patent infringement or other intellectual property-related lawsuits as we face increasing competition
and become increasingly visible. Any adverse determination related to intellectual property claims or liti-
gation could adversely affect our business, financial condition and operating results.
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• The risk of a data security breach or service disruption caused by computer hackers and cyber criminals
has increased as the frequency, intensity and sophistication of attempted attacks and intrusions from
around the world have increased. Our services and systems have been, and may in the future be, the target
of various forms of cyber-attacks. While we make significant efforts to maintain the security and integrity
of our services and computer systems, our cybersecurity measures and the cybersecurity measures taken
by our third-party data center facilities may be unable to anticipate, detect or prevent all attempts to
compromise our systems. Any security breach, whether successful or not, could harm our reputation,
subject us to lawsuits and other potential liabilities and ultimately could result in the loss of customers.

• We believe that competition will continue to increase. Increased competition could result from existing
competitors or new competitors that enter the market because of the potential opportunity. We will con-
tinue to closely monitor competitive activity and respond accordingly. Increased competition could have
an adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

• We believe that as we continue to grow revenue at expected rates, our cost of revenue and operating
expenses, including sales and marketing, research and development and general and administrative
expenses will increase in absolute dollar amounts. For a description of the general trends we anticipate in
various expense categories, see “Cost of Revenue and Operating Expenses” below.

Sources of Revenue

We derive our revenue primarily from subscription fees for our premium services from SMBs, IT service
providers, mobile carriers, customer service centers, original equipment manufacturers, or OEMs, and consumers
and to a lesser extent, from the delivery of professional services primarily related to our Xively business. The
majority of our customers subscribe to our services on an annual basis and pay in advance, typically with a credit
card, for their subscription. A smaller percentage of our customers subscribe to our services on a monthly basis
through either month-to-month commitments or annual commitments that are then paid monthly with a credit
card. We initially record a subscription fee as deferred revenue and then recognize it ratably, on a daily basis,
over the life of the subscription period. Typically, a subscription automatically renews at the end of a sub-
scription period unless the customer specifically terminates it prior to the end of the period. For the twelve
months ended December 31, 2014, our gross annualized renewal rate was approximately 80%. We calculate our
gross renewal rate on an annualized dollar basis across all product lines as of the end of each period. We expect
our gross renewal rate to remain relatively consistent as we continue to invest in our products, customer support
organization, and related retention programs.

Employees

We have increased our number of full-time employees to 804 at December 31, 2014 as compared to 613 at
December 31, 2013.

Cost of Revenue and Operating Expenses

We allocate certain overhead expenses, such as rent and utilities, to expense categories based on the head-
count in or office space occupied by personnel in that expense category as a percentage of our total headcount or
office space. As a result, an overhead allocation associated with these costs is reflected in the cost of revenue and
each operating expense category.

Cost of Revenue. Cost of revenue consists primarily of costs associated with our data center operations,
customer support centers and our Xively professional services team. Included in these costs are wages and bene-
fits for personnel, telecommunication, hosting fees, hardware and software maintenance costs and depreciation
associated with our data centers, and contingent bonus expense related to the Ionia acquisition (see Note 4 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements). Additionally, amortization expense associated with the acquired software,
technology and documented know-how, as well as internally developed software is included in cost of revenue.
The expenses related to hosting our services and supporting our free and premium customers are dependent on
the number of customers who subscribe to our services and the complexity and redundancy of our services and
hosting infrastructure. The expenses related to our professional services team are driven by our investment and
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efforts to support the growth of our Xively business. We expect cost of revenue expenses to increase in absolute
dollars but remain relatively constant as a percentage of revenue as we continue to invest in our data center oper-
ations and customer support centers to support the growth of our customer base and as we expand our pro-
fessional services team.

Research and Development. Research and development expenses consist primarily of wages and benefits
for development personnel, rent expense primarily related to our offices in Hungary, consulting fees associated
with outsourced development projects, travel-related costs for development personnel, and depreciation of assets
used in development. Our research and development efforts are focused on both improving ease of use and func-
tionality of our existing services, as well as developing new offerings. The majority of our research and
development employees are located in our development centers in Europe. Therefore, a majority of research and
development expense is subject to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. We capitalized approximately $0.7
million, $1.2 million and $2.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, respectively, of
costs related to internally developed computer software to be sold as a service, which was incurred during the
application development stage. The majority of research and development costs have been expensed as incurred.
We expect that research and development expenses will increase in absolute dollars as we continue to enhance
and expand our services but will remain relatively constant as a percentage of revenue.

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of online search and advertising
costs, wages, commissions and benefits for sales and marketing personnel, offline marketing costs such as media
advertising and trade shows, consulting fees and credit card processing fees. Online search and advertising costs
consist primarily of pay-per-click payments to search engines and other online advertising media such as banner
ads. Offline marketing costs include radio and print advertisements as well as the costs to create and produce
these advertisements, and tradeshows, including the costs of space at tradeshows and costs to design and con-
struct tradeshow booths. Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. In order to continue to grow our business
and awareness of our services, we expect that we will continue to invest in our sales and marketing efforts. We
expect that sales and marketing expenses will increase in absolute dollars but remain relatively constant as a
percentage of revenue.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of wages and benefits
for management, human resources, internal IT support, legal, finance and accounting personnel, professional
fees, insurance and other corporate expenses. We expect general and administrative expenses related to person-
nel, recruiting, internal information systems, audit, accounting and insurance costs will increase in absolute dol-
lars but remain relatively constant as a percentage of revenue as we continue to support the growth of our
business. We also expect to incur increased litigation-related expenses in connection with our defense against the
legal claims described in Part I, Item 3 and Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. The preparation of our financial statements and related disclosures requires us to make
estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, revenue, costs and
expenses, and related disclosures. We base our estimates and assumptions on historical experience and other
factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on
an ongoing basis. Our actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions.
Our most critical accounting policies are summarized below. See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial State-
ments included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information about these critical
accounting policies, as well as a description of our other significant accounting policies.

Revenue Recognition. We derive our revenue primarily from subscription fees related to our premium
services and to a lesser extent, the delivery of professional services, primarily related to our Xively business.

Revenue from our premium subscription services is recognized on a daily basis over the subscription term
as the services are delivered, provided that there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the fee is fixed or
determinable and collectability is deemed reasonably assured. Subscription periods range from monthly to five
years, but are generally one year in duration. Our software cannot be run on another entity’s hardware nor do
customers have the right to take possession of the software and use it on their own or another entity’s hardware.
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We currently only offer free versions of our iPhone, iPad and Android software products. We had formerly
sold these iPhone, iPad and Android software products as perpetually licensed software, the revenue from which
was recognized when there was persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the product had been provided to the
customer, the collection of the fee was probable, and the amount of the fees to be paid by the customer was fixed
and determinable.

Our multi-element arrangements typically include subscription and professional services, which may
include development services. We evaluate each element within the arrangement to determine if they can be
accounted for as separate units of accounting. If the delivered item or items have value to the customer on a
standalone basis, either because they are sold separately by any vendor or the customer could resell the delivered
item or items on a standalone basis, we have determined that the deliverables within these arrangements qualify
for treatment as separate units of accounting. Accordingly, we recognize revenue for each delivered item or items
as a separate earnings process commencing when all of the significant performance obligations have been per-
formed and when all the revenue recognition criteria have been met. In cases where we have determined that the
delivered items within our multi-element arrangements do not have value to the customer on a stand-alone basis,
the arrangement is accounted for as a single unit of accounting and the related consideration is recognized ratably
over the estimated customer life, commencing when all of the significant performance obligations have been
delivered and when all the revenue recognition criteria have been met.

Income Taxes. We are subject to federal, state, and foreign income taxes for jurisdictions in which we
operate, and we use estimates in determining our provision for these income taxes and deferred tax assets.
Deferred tax assets, related valuation allowances, current tax liabilities and deferred tax liabilities are determined
separately by tax jurisdiction. In making these determinations, we estimate deferred tax assets, current tax
liabilities and deferred tax liabilities, and we assess temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of
items for tax and accounting purposes. At December 31, 2013 and 2014, our deferred tax assets consisted primar-
ily of net operating losses and stock compensation expense. We assess the likelihood that deferred tax assets will
be realized, and we recognize a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not that some portion of the deferred
tax assets will not be recognized. This assessment requires judgment as to the likelihood and amounts of future
taxable income by tax jurisdiction. During 2012, we reassessed the need for a valuation allowance against our
deferred tax assets related to our Xively subsidiary and concluded that we would be able to realize the deferred
tax assets as a result of future profitability. Accordingly, we reversed the valuation allowance related to our
Xively subsidiary of approximately $677,000 during the year ended December 31, 2012. As of December 31,
2013 and 2014, we maintained a full valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets of our Hungarian sub-
sidiary. This entity has historical losses and we concluded it was not more likely than not that these deferred tax
assets are realizable.

We evaluate our uncertain tax positions based on a determination of whether and how much of a tax benefit
we have taken in our tax filings or positions is more likely than not to be realized. Potential interest and penalties
associated with any uncertain tax positions are recorded as a component of income tax expense. As of
December 31, 2013 and 2014, we provided a liability of approximately $304,000 and $652,000, respectively for
uncertain tax positions. Although we believe that our tax estimates are reasonable, the ultimate tax determination
involves significant judgment that is subject to audit by tax authorities in the ordinary course of business.

Goodwill and acquired intangible assets. We record goodwill as the excess of the acquisition price over
the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired. We do not amortize goodwill, but
instead perform an annual impairment test of goodwill or whenever events and circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of goodwill may exceed its fair value. We operate as a single operating segment with one
reporting unit and consequently evaluate goodwill for impairment based on an evaluation of the fair value of the
Company as a whole. As of December 31, 2014, our fair value as a whole significantly exceeds our carrying
value. We continuously monitor our intangible assets for indicators of impairment. If an indicator exists, we
compare the undiscounted expected future cash flows from the intangible asset to its carrying value. If the carry-
ing value exceeds the undiscounted, expected cash flows, we record an impairment based on the difference
between the carrying value and determined fair value. Projected future cash flows are an estimate made by
management which based on their nature include risks and uncertainties, primarily related to acceptance of
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products in the marketplace. To the extent that estimates of cash flows do not come to fruition, future impair-
ments of intangible assets may be required. No material impairments have been recorded through December 31,
2014.

We record intangible assets at their respective estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. Intangible
assets are amortized based upon the pattern in which their economic benefit will be realized, or if this pattern
cannot be reliably determined, using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, which range from
four months to eight years.

Stock-Based Compensation. We value all stock-based compensation, including grants of stock options and
restricted stock units, at fair value on date of grant and expense the fair value over the applicable service period.

The assumptions used in determining the fair value of share-based awards represent management’s best
estimates, but these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management’s judgment. As a
result, if factors change, and we use different assumptions, our share-based compensation could be materially
different in the future. The risk-free interest rate used for each grant is based on a U.S. Treasury instrument with
a term similar to the expected term of the share-based award. The expected term of stock options has been esti-
mated utilizing the vesting period of the option, the contractual life of the option and our option exercise history.
We estimate the expected volatility of our common stock at the date of grant based on the historical volatility of
comparable public companies over the option’s expected term as well as our own stock price volatility since our
IPO.

Restricted stock units with time-based vesting conditions are valued on the grant date using the grant date
closing price of our common stock. Restricted stock units with market-based vesting conditions are valued using
a Monte Carlo simulation model. The number of shares expected to be earned, based on market conditions, is
factored into the grant date Monte Carlo valuation for the awards. The grant date fair value is not subsequently
adjusted regardless of the eventual number of shares that are earned based on the market condition.

We recognize compensation expense for only the portion of share-based awards that are expected to vest.
Accordingly, we have estimated expected forfeitures of share-based awards based on our historical forfeiture rate
and we use these rates to develop future forfeiture rates. If our actual forfeiture rate varies from our historical
rates and estimates, additional adjustments to compensation expense may be required in future periods. Past fair
value of share-based awards grants may not be a reliable indicator of future fair values as assumptions such as
volatility may change over time.

Loss Contingencies. We have been involved in various legal claims and legal proceedings and may be
subject to additional legal claims and proceedings in the future that arise in the ordinary course of business. We
consider the likelihood of a loss or the incurrence of a liability, as well as our ability to reasonably estimate the
amount of loss, in determining loss contingencies. An estimated loss contingency is accrued when we believe
that it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated.
Significant judgment is required to determine both probability and the estimated amount. We regularly evaluate
current information available and reflect the impact of negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel,
and updated information to determine whether such accruals should be adjusted and whether new accruals are
required and update our disclosures accordingly. Litigation is inherently unpredictable and is subject to sig-
nificant uncertainties, some of which are beyond our control. Should any of these estimates and assumptions
change or prove to have been incorrect, it could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations,
financial position and cash flows. See Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion
of litigation and contingencies as well as “Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3.
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Results of Consolidated Operations

The following table sets forth selected consolidated statements of operations data for each of the periods
indicated as a percentage of total revenue.

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2013 2014

Operations Data:
Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100% 100% 100%

Cost of revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10 11 13

Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 90 89 87

Operating expenses:

Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19 18 15

Sales and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 51 53 54

General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15 18 14

Legal settlements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 1 —

Amortization of acquired intangibles . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — —

Total operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 85 90 83

Income (loss) from operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 (1) 4

Interest and other income (expense), net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — —

Income (loss) before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 (1) 4

Provision for income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2) (4) —

Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3% (5)% 4%

Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2014

Revenue. Revenue increased $55.7 million, or 34%, from $166.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2013 to $222.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. The majority of the increase was attributable to an
increase in revenue from new customers, as our total number of subscribers increased significantly during the
period. The increase in revenue from new customers and in our total number of subscribers was attributable to
continued increased sales of join.me pro, our premium collaboration service, and our strategic decision to dis-
continue offering LogMeIn Free, our free remote access service, to instead focus our marketing spend and efforts
on our faster growing free services, specifically join.me. As a result of this change, we experienced significant
growth in total sales and total subscribers as former LogMeIn Free users transitioned to either our premium
remote access service, LogMeIn Pro, or our premium IT management product, LogMeIn Central. We believe that
the majority of those LogMeIn Free users who would have converted to LogMeIn Pro or LogMeIn Central sub-
scribers have already converted at this time.

Cost of Revenue. Cost of revenue increased $9.9 million from $18.8 million for the year ended December
31, 2013 to $28.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. As a percentage of revenue, cost of revenue
was 11% and 13% for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014, respectively. The increase in absolute dol-
lars was primarily due to a $2.5 million increase in contingent retention-based bonuses incurred in connection
with the Ionia acquisition (see Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). The increase was also due to a
$2.1 million increase in amortization expense related to a software asset purchased in November 2013, a $1.9
million increase in personnel-related costs, including salary, wages, bonus and benefits and tax, recruiting and
relocation expense, as we retained professional services employees from the Ionia acquisition and increased the
number of customer support employees to support our overall growth, a $1.9 million increase in hosting costs
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associated with managing our data centers and hosting our services as a result of an increase in both the number
of customers using our services and the total number of devices that connected to our services, a $1.0 million
increase in consulting fees, and a $0.1 million increase in hardware and software maintenance costs. Included in
the increase in personnel-related costs is a $0.4 million increase in stock-based compensation expense.

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses increased $4.5 million, or
15%, from $29.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 to $33.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2014. As a percentage of revenue, research and development expenses were 18% and 15% for the
years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014, respectively. The increase in absolute dollars was primarily due to a
$3.7 million increase in personnel-related costs including salary, wages, bonus, recruiting and relocation costs,
and benefits and taxes, as we increased the number of research and development employees to support our over-
all growth and a $1.0 million increase in contingent bonus expense related to the Meldium acquisition (see Note
4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). The increase was also due to a $0.6 million increase in travel-related
costs, a $0.4 million increase in hardware and software maintenance costs, a $0.3 million increase in consulting
fees, and a $0.2 million increase in rent expense. These amounts were offset by a $1.1 million decrease in con-
tingent bonus expense related to the Xively and Bold acquisitions as the final contingent bonus payments were
earned and paid in July 2013 and January 2014, respectively, and a $0.8 million increase in costs related to
internally developed computer software to be sold as a service, which were incurred during the application
development stage and therefore capitalized rather than expensed.

Sales and Marketing Expenses. Sales and marketing expenses increased $30.7 million, or 35%, from $88.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2013 to $119.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. As a
percentage of revenue, sales and marketing expenses were 53% and 54% for the years ended December 31, 2013
and 2014. The increase in absolute dollars was primarily due to a $12.8 million increase in personnel-related and
recruiting costs, including salary, wages, commissions, bonus, and benefits and taxes, from the hiring of addi-
tional employees to support our growth in sales and expand our marketing efforts and a $10.8 million increase in
marketing program costs. Included in the increase in personnel-related and recruiting costs is a $1.8 million
increase in stock-based compensation expense. The total increase in sales and marketing expense was also due to
a $1.9 million increase in credit card transaction fees related to an increase in e-commerce sales, a $1.8 million
increase in consulting fees, a $1.1 million increase in travel-related and department meeting costs, a $0.8 million
increase in rent expense, a $0.4 million increase in hardware and software maintenance costs, and a $0.3 million
increase in telecommunications expense.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses increased $1.3 million, or 5%,
from $29.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 to $30.5 million for the year ended December 31,
2014. As a percentage of revenue, general and administrative expenses were 18% and 14% for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2014, respectively. The increase in absolute dollars was primarily due to a $4.3 million
increase in personnel-related and recruiting costs, including salary, wages, bonus, and benefits and taxes, as we
increased the number of general and administrative employees to support our overall growth. Included in the
increase in personnel-related and recruiting costs is a $3.0 million increase in stock-based compensation expense.
The total increase in general and administrative expense was also due to a $0.7 million increase in legal fees,
$0.4 million increase in audit and accounting fees, a $0.3 million increase in consulting fees, a $0.2 million
increase in rent expense, a $0.1 million increase in hardware and software maintenance costs, a $0.1 million
increase in depreciation expense, a $0.1 million increase in telecommunications expense, and a $0.1 million
increase in travel related costs. These amounts were offset by a $5.3 million decrease in litigation related costs,
which had been primarily related to our defense against the patent infringement claims made by 01 Communique.

Legal Settlement Expenses. Legal settlement expenses were $1.7 million for the year ended December 31
2013 and were primarily associated with the Pragmatus License Agreement in April 2013 (see Note 11 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements). We did not incur legal settlement expenses for the year ended December 31,
2014.

Amortization of Acquired Intangibles. Amortization of acquired intangibles increased $0.3 million, or 45%
from $0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 to $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2014.
The increase in amortization of acquired intangibles for the year ended December 31, 2014 is primarily related to
the intangible assets acquired in the Ionia acquisition in March 2014.
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Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net. Interest and other income (expense), net was income of approx-
imately $0.5 million and $0.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014, respectively. The
increase was primarily related to an increase in foreign currency gains and an increase in interest income earned
on marketable securities.

Income Taxes. We recorded a provision for federal, state and foreign income taxes of approximately $6.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2013, on a loss before income taxes of $1.5 million as a result of income
generated in the United States offset by losses incurred in certain foreign jurisdictions where there is no correspond-
ing benefit. For the year ended December 31, 2014, we recorded a tax provision for income taxes of approximately
$1.4 million on profit before taxes of $9.4 million resulting in an effective tax rate of approximately 15%. Our
effective tax rate is lower than the U.S. federal statutory rate of 35% primarily due to profits earned in certain for-
eign jurisdictions, primarily our Irish subsidiaries, which are subject to significantly lower tax rates than the U.S.
federal statutory rate.

Net (Loss) Income. We recognized a net loss of $7.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 com-
pared to net income of $8.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2013

Revenue. Revenue increased $27.4 million, or 20%, from $138.8 million for the year ended December 31,
2012 to $166.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. The majority of the increase was due to an
increase in revenue from new subscribers to our premium services, as our total number of subscribers increased
from approximately 462,000 subscribers at December 31, 2012 to approximately 577,000 subscribers at
December 31, 2013, and incremental add-on revenues from our existing customer base. This increase in new
subscribers was driven in part by significant growth in new sales in join.me, our collaboration product and by a
business model change that required users with LogMeIn Free installed on more than ten host computers to pur-
chase a Central subscription.

Cost of Revenue. Cost of revenue increased $4.3 million, or 30%, from $14.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012 to $18.8 million for year ended December 31, 2013. As a percentage of revenue, cost of
revenue was 10% and 11% for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively. The increase in abso-
lute dollars was primarily a result of an increase in both the number of customers using our premium services and
the total number of devices that connected to our services, including devices owned by free users, which resulted
in increased hosting and customer support costs. The costs associated with managing our data centers and the
hosting of our services increased by $3.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year
ended December 31, 2012 due to the expansion of our data center capacity. The total increase in cost of revenue
was also due to a $0.4 million increase in rent expense.

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses increased $2.7 million, or
10%, from $26.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 to $29.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013. As a percentage of revenue, research and development expenses were 19% and 18% for the
years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively. The increase in absolute dollars was primarily due to a
$2.4 million increase in personnel-related costs from the hiring of additional employees to improve the ease of
use and functionality of our existing services and develop new service offerings. Included in the increase in
personnel-related costs is a $3.9 million increase in salary, wages, bonus and benefits and tax expense and a $0.9
million increase in stock-based compensation. This was offset by a $1.8 million decrease in contingent bonus
expense related to the Xively and Bold acquisitions and a $0.5 million increase in costs related to internally
developed software to be sold as a service, which was incurred during the application development stage and
therefore capitalized rather than expensed. The total increase in research and development expenses was also due
to a $0.1 million increase in department meeting expenses and a $0.1 million increase in rent expense.

Sales and Marketing Expenses. Sales and marketing expenses increased $18.7 million, or 27%, from $70.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2012 to $88.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. As a
percentage of revenue, sales and marketing expenses were 51% and 53% for the years ended December 31, 2012
and 2013. The increase in absolute dollars was primarily due to a $9.0 million increase in personnel-related costs,
including salary, wages, commissions, bonus and benefits and tax expense, from the hiring of additional employees

38



to support our growth in sales and expand our marketing efforts. Included in the increase in personnel-related costs
is a $2.3 million increase in stock-based compensation. The total increase in sales and marketing expenses was also
due to a $5.2 million increase in marketing program costs, a $1.7 million increase in rent expense, a $0.9 million
increase in professional fees, a $0.7 million increase in credit card transaction fees, a $0.6 million increase in
department meeting expenses and a $0.5 million increase in hardware and software maintenance costs.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses increased $7.8 million, or
37%, from $21.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 to $29.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2013. As a percentage of revenue, general and administrative expenses were 15% and 18% for the
years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively. The increase in absolute dollars was primarily due to a
$4.3 million increase in legal costs associated with our defense against the patent infringement claims made by
01 Communique. The increase was also a result of a $3.4 million increase in personnel-related costs, including
salary, wages, bonus and benefits and tax expense, as we increased the number of general and administrative
employees to support our overall growth. Included in the increase in personnel-related costs is a $1.5 million
increase in stock-based compensation.

Legal Settlement Expenses. Legal settlement expenses for the year ended December 31, 2013 were $1.7
million compared to $0 million for the year ended December 31, 2012. Legal settlement expenses for the year
ended December 31, 2013 were associated with patent litigation related expenses (see Note 11 to the Con-
solidated Financial Statements).

Amortization of Acquired Intangibles. Amortization of acquired intangibles increased $0.1 million, or 21%
from $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 and $0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.
As a percentage of revenue, amortization of acquired intangibles were 0% for both the years ended December 31,
2012 and 2013. The amortization of acquired intangibles for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013 related
primarily to intangible assets acquired as part of our January 2012 acquisition of Bold. The $0.1 million increase in
amortization of acquired intangibles is primarily related to an increase in amortization of domain names.

Interest and Other Income, Net. Interest and other income, net was income of approximately $0.2 million
and $0.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively. The increase in income was
primarily related to a decrease in foreign currency losses offset by a decrease in interest income earned on
marketable securities.

Income Taxes. We recorded a provision for federal, state and foreign income taxes of approximately $2.7
million and $6.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively. The increase in the tax
provision recorded in the year ended December 31, 2013 is primarily the result of increased taxable income in the
United States, while certain foreign jurisdictions incurred losses without a related tax benefit. Our effective tax
rate for the year ended December 31, 2013 was impacted by these foreign losses and by permanent differences
related to certain non-deductible stock-based compensation. In the future, we expect our effective tax rate to
return to historical levels as our foreign losses decrease.

Net Income (Loss). For the year ended December 31, 2013, revenue increased $27.4 million while cost of
revenue increased $4.3 million, operating expenses increased $31.0 million, interest and other income increased
$0.2 million, and our tax provision increased $3.5 million, resulting in a $11.2 million decrease in net income.

The $27.4 million increase in revenue is primarily due to an increase in revenue from new customers and
add-on revenues from our existing customer base.

The $4.3 million increase in cost of revenue is primarily due to a $3.5 million increase in costs to manage
our data centers and the hosting of our services and a $0.4 million increase in rent expense.

The $31.0 million increase in operating expenses is primarily due to a $16.9 million increase in personnel-
related costs, including salary, wages, commissions, bonus and benefits and tax expense. Included in the increase
in personnel-related costs is a $4.7 million increase in stock-based compensation. The increase in operating
expenses were also due to a $6.0 million increase in patent litigation related expenses, a $5.2 million increase in
marketing programs, a $2.3 million increase in rent related costs, a $0.8 million increase in consulting fees, a
$0.7 million increase in department meeting expenses, a $0.7 million increase in credit card transaction fees, a
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$0.4 million increase in hardware and software maintenance costs and a $0.3 million increase in depreciation
expense. These were offset by a $1.9 million decrease in acquisition related costs and amortization and a $0.3
million decrease in legal fees.

The $3.6 million increase in our tax provision is primarily due to a provision for federal, state, and foreign
income taxes of $2.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2012, compared to a provision of $6.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2013.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The following table sets forth the major sources and uses of cash for each of the periods set forth below:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2013 2014

(In thousands)

Net cash provided by operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 28,257 $ 30,020 $ 74,153

Net cash used in investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (29,800) (24,368) (32,942)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities . . . . . . . . . 9,228 (28,648) (24,288)

Effect of exchange rate changes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 643 321 (5,220)

Net increase (decrease) in cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 8,328 $(22,675) $ 11,703

At December 31, 2014, our principal source of liquidity was cash and cash equivalents and short-term
marketable securities totaling $201.2 million. As of December 31, 2014, $52.7 million of the $201.2 million of
cash and cash equivalents and short-term marketable securities was held by our foreign subsidiaries. If the undis-
tributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries are needed for our operations in the United States, we would be
required to accrue and pay U.S. taxes upon repatriation. Our current plans are not expected to require repatriation
of cash and investments to fund our U.S. operations and, as a result, we intend to indefinitely reinvest our foreign
earnings to fund our foreign subsidiaries.

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $28.3 million, $30.0 million, and $74.2 million for the years
ended December 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014, respectively.

Net cash inflows from operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2012 were mainly attribut-
able to a $11.0 million increase in deferred revenue associated with the increase in subscription sales orders and
customer growth. Net cash inflows from operating activities were also attributable to non-cash operating
expenses, including $14.8 million for stock compensation, $6.1 million for depreciation and amortization, offset
by a $6.6 million income tax benefit from the exercise of stock options and a $0.8 million benefit from deferred
income taxes. The increase in net cash inflows from operating activities were also attributable to a $7.4 million
increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses, offset by a $4.5 million increase in accounts receivable, a
$1.1 million increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets and a $1.3 million increase in other assets.

Net cash inflows from operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2013 were mainly attribut-
able to a $14.5 million increase in deferred revenue associated with upfront payments received from our custom-
ers for services. The net cash inflows from operating activities were also attributable to a $3.5 million increase in
accrued expenses, offset by a $3.8 million increase in other assets, a $3.0 million increase in prepaid expenses
and other current assets and a $2.2 million decrease in accounts payable. The increase in accrued expenses is
primarily driven by a $1.9 million increase in accrued marketing programs and a $1.7 million increase in payroll
and payroll related costs. The increase in other assets is primarily driven by a $1.9 million increase in prepaid tax
and a $1.8 million increase in long-term prepaid rent for our Boston office. The increase in prepaid expense and
other current assets is primarily related to a $3.0 million increase in prepaid taxes. Additionally, included in net
cash inflows from operating activities are add-backs of non-cash expense items, including $19.7 million for stock
compensation, $7.7 million for depreciation and amortization, and a $0.9 million provision for deferred income
taxes resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes.
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Net cash inflows from operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2014 were mainly attribut-
able to a $24.0 million increase in deferred revenue associated with upfront payments received from our custom-
ers for services. The net cash inflows from operating activities were also attributable to a $9.2 million increase in
accrued expenses, our net income of $8.0 million, a $1.8 million decrease in prepaid expenses and other current
assets, a $1.7 million increase in accounts payable, and a $1.6 million increase in other long-term liabilities. The
net cash inflows from operating activities were offset by a $5.8 million increase in accounts receivable. The
increase in accrued expenses is primarily driven by a $5.2 million increase in payroll and payroll related costs
and a $3.0 million increase in accrued marketing programs. The decrease in prepaid expenses and other current
assets is primarily driven by a $2.2 million decrease in prepaid tax. The decrease in prepaid expenses and other
current assets is offset by a $1.0 million increase in prepaid software subscription fees. Additionally, included in
net cash inflows from operating activities are add-backs of non-cash charges, including $24.8 million for stock
compensation, $11.1 million for depreciation and amortization, and a $2.7 million benefit from deferred income
taxes resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes.

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $29.8 million, $24.4 million, and $32.9 million for the years ended
December 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014, respectively.

Net cash used in investing for the year ended December 31, 2012 was primarily related to the acquisition of
Bold for $14.8 million, net of cash acquired, and the purchase of $135.1 million of marketable securities offset
by proceeds of $130.0 million from redemption and maturity of marketable securities. Net cash used in investing
activities also related to the addition of $5.3 million in property and equipment mainly related to the expansion
and upgrade of our data center capacity, the expansion and upgrade of our internal IT infrastructure and the
expansion of our offices. Restricted cash and deposits also increased $3.6 million as a result of the letter of credit
associated with the lease of our new corporate headquarters in Boston. We also had $1.0 million in intangible
asset additions related to internally developed software and the purchase of domain names and trademarks.

Net cash used in investing for the year ended December 31, 2013 was primarily related to an increase in
intangible assets associated with the acquisition of a software asset for $11.5 million and the addition of $10.9
million in property and equipment mainly related to the expansion and upgrade of our data center capacity, the
expansion and upgrade of our internal IT infrastructure and the expansion of our offices. Net cash used in inves-
ting activities also related to $1.6 million in intangible asset additions related to internally developed software
and the purchase of domain names and trademarks and the purchase of $90.4 million of marketable securities
offset by proceeds of $90.0 million from redemption and maturity of marketable securities.

Net cash used in investing for the year ended December 31, 2014 was primarily related to the acquisitions of
Ionia in March 2014, Meldium in August 2014, and a San Francisco-based collaboration software provider in
September 2014, which resulted in a $22.4 million increase in acquired intangible assets, and the purchase of
$7.5 million in property and equipment mainly related to the expansion and upgrade of our data center capacity,
the expansion and upgrade of our internal IT infrastructure, and the expansion of our offices. Net cash used in
investing activities also related to $2.5 million in intangible asset additions, primarily for capitalized costs related
to internally developed computer software to be sold as a service which were incurred during the application
development stage.

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $9.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2012. Net cash
used by financing activities was $28.6 million and $24.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2013 and
2014, respectively.

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2012 was primarily related to a
$6.6 million income tax benefit from the exercise of stock options as well as $2.7 million in proceeds from the
issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options. These were offset by a $0.1 million payment for con-
tingent consideration.
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Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2013 was primarily related to $30.5 mil-
lion for the purchase of treasury stock pursuant to our share repurchase program as well as $1.8 million for payroll
taxes paid related to vesting of restricted stock units, and $0.1 million payment for contingent consideration, offset
by $3.8 million in proceeds received from the issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options.

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2014 was primarily related to the
purchase of $36.5 million of treasury stock pursuant to our share repurchase program as well as the payment of
$5.8 million for payroll taxes related to vesting of restricted stock units, offset by $17.6 million in proceeds
received from the issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options.

While we believe that our current cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to meet our working capital
and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next twelve months, we may elect to raise additional capital
through the sale of additional equity or debt securities or expand our credit facility to develop or enhance our
services, to fund expansion, to respond to competitive pressures or to acquire complementary products, busi-
nesses or technologies. If we elect, additional financing may not be available in amounts or on terms that are
favorable to us, if at all. If we raise additional funds through the issuance of equity or convertible debt securities,
our existing stockholders could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities we issue could have
rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of holders of our common stock.

During the last three years, inflation and changing prices have not had a material effect on our business and
we do not expect that inflation or changing prices will materially affect our business in the foreseeable future.

Key Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Regulations S-K Item 10(e), “Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures in Commission Filings,” defines and
prescribes the condition for use of non-GAAP financial information. We have presented the following non-GAAP
measures in accordance with this standard. We believe that these non-GAAP measures of financial results provide
useful information to management and investors regarding certain financial and business trends relating to our
financial condition and results of operations. Management uses these non-GAAP measures to compare our
performance to that of prior periods and uses these measures in financial reports prepared for management and our
board of directors. We believe that the use of these non-GAAP financial measures provides an additional tool for
investors to use in evaluating ongoing operating results and trends and in comparing our financial measures with
other software-as-a-service companies, many of which present similar non-GAAP financial measures to investors.

In addition to our consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP, to date, we have
considered the following non-GAAP financial measures to be key indicators of our financial performance:

• “Non-GAAP operating income,” which we define as GAAP operating income less acquisition related
costs and amortization, stock-based compensation expense, and litigation related expenses;

• “Adjusted EBITDA,” which we define as GAAP income, less interest income and other expense (net),
provision for income taxes, depreciation and amortization expenses, acquisition related costs, stock-based
compensation expense, and litigation related expenses;

• “Non-GAAP provision for income taxes,” which we define as GAAP provision for income taxes less the
tax impact from acquisition related costs and amortization, stock compensation expense, litigation related
expenses, and tax benefits associated with the reversal of a valuation allowance;

• “Non-GAAP net income,” which we define as GAAP net income (loss) before stock-based compensation
expense, litigation related expense, and acquisition related costs and amortization, less the tax effect of
the non-GAAP items; and

• “Non-GAAP earnings per share,” which we define as non-GAAP net income divided by diluted average
weighted shares outstanding.

The expenses described below have been excluded from our GAAP results to arrive at our non-GAAP
measures, as outlined above:

Acquisition related costs and amortization relate to costs associated with acquisitions of intellectual prop-
erty and businesses and include legal costs, audit and accounting fees, contingent retention bonuses and the
amortization of intangible assets.
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Acquisition related costs relate to costs associated with the acquisitions of intellectual property and busi-
nesses and include legal costs, audit and accounting fees and contingent retention bonuses.

Stock-based compensation expense relates to stock-based compensation awards granted to our executive
officers, employees, and outside directors.

Litigation related expenses relate to costs associated with the defense and settlement of claims brought
against us including intellectual property infringement claims and other material litigation (see Note 11 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements).

Depreciation and amortization expenses relate to costs associated with the depreciation and amortization of
fixed and intangible assets.

Interest income and other expense (income), net relates to the interest earned on outstanding cash balances
during the period as well as foreign currency, realized and unrealized, gains and losses as a result of multi-
currency settlements occurring during the period and period end translation adjustments.

Income tax expense relates to the total income tax levied based on GAAP income during the period.

Tax benefits related to the reversal of a valuation allowance relate to the reversal of a valuation allowance
against certain foreign deferred tax assets (see Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

We consider our non-GAAP financial measures and these certain financial and operating metrics important
to understanding our historical results, improving our business, benchmarking our performance against peer
companies, and identifying current and future trends impacting our business.

The exclusion of certain expenses in the calculation of non-GAAP financial measures should not be con-
strued as an inference that these costs are unusual or infrequent. We anticipate excluding these expenses in future
presentations of our non-GAAP financial measures. We believe that these non-GAAP measures of financial
results provide useful information to management and investors regarding certain financial and business trends
related to our financial condition and results of operations.

We do not consider these non-GAAP measures in isolation or as an alternative to financial measures
determined in accordance with GAAP. The principal limitation of these non-GAAP financial measures is that
they exclude significant elements that are required to be recorded in our financial statements pursuant to GAAP.
In addition, they are subject to inherent limitations as they reflect the exercise of judgments by management in
determining these non-GAAP financial measures. In order to compensate for these limitations, management
presents our non-GAAP financial measures in connection with our GAAP results. We urge investors to review
the reconciliation of our non-GAAP financial measures to the comparable GAAP financial measures, which we
have included in this Form 10-K and in our press releases announcing our quarterly financial results, and not to
rely on any single financial measure to evaluate our business.

Reconciliation tables of the most comparable GAAP financial measures to the non-GAAP measures are
presented as follows (in thousands, except share and per share data):

For the Year Ended December 31,

Non-GAAP Income from operations 2012 2013 2014

GAAP income (loss) from operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 6,011 $ (1,926) $ 8,687

Add Back:

Stock-based compensation expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,792 19,714 24,769

Litigation related expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,470 7,476 475

Acquisition related costs and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,450 3,537 8,237

Non-GAAP operating income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $27,723 $28,801 $42,168
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For the Year Ended December 31,

Adjusted EBITDA 2012 2013 2014

GAAP net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,566 $ (7,682) $ 7,955
Add Back:

Stock-based compensation expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,792 19,714 24,769
Litigation related expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,470 7,476 475
Acquisition related costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,597 1,540 4,466
Interest income and other income, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (246) (458) (707)
Income tax expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,691 6,214 1,439
Depreciation and Amortization expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,100 7,704 11,137

Adjusted EBITDA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $31,970 $34,508 $49,534

For the Year Ended December 31,

Non-GAAP Net Income 2012 2013 2014

GAAP net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,566 $ (7,682) $ 7,955
Add Back:

Stock-based compensation expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,792 19,714 24,769
Litigation related expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,470 7,476 475
Acquisition related costs and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,450 3,537 8,237

Less:
Income tax effect of non-GAAP items . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6,922) (9,194) (11,509)

Non-GAAP net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $18,356 $13,851 $ 29,927

For the Year Ended December 31,

Non-GAAP Earnings per share 2012 2013 2014

GAAP diluted earnings (loss) per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.14 $ (0.32) $ 0.31
Add Back:

Stock-based compensation expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.58 0.79 0.98
Litigation related expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.06 0.30 0.02
Acquisition related costs and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.21 0.14 0.32

Less:
Income tax effect of non-GAAP items . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (0.27) (0.36) (0.45)

Non-GAAP earnings per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.72 $ 0.55 $ 1.18

Shares used in computing diluted net income per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,356,305 25,018,758 25,386,199

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not engage in any off-balance sheet financing activities, nor do we have any interest in entities
referred to as variable interest entities.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations at December 31, 2014 and the effect such obliga-
tions are expected to have on our liquidity and cash flow in future periods.

Payments Due by Period (in thousands)(1)

Total
Less Than

1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years
More Than

5 Years

Operating lease obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 99,921 $ 7,013 $19,366 $20,290 $53,252
Hosting service agreements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,559 3,334 225 — —

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $103,480 $10,347 $19,591 $20,290 $53,252

(1) Excluded from the table above is $652,000 related to uncertain tax positions as we are uncertain as to when a cash
settlement for these liabilities will occur.
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The commitments under our operating leases shown above consist primarily of lease payments for our corpo-
rate headquarters located in Boston, Massachusetts (see Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements), our
research and development offices in Hungary, our international sales and marketing offices located in Australia,
the United Kingdom, Ireland, and India, and contractual obligations related to our data centers.

In December 2014, we entered into a lease for new office space in Boston, Massachusetts. The landlord is
obligated to rehabilitate the existing building and we expect that the lease term will begin in November 2015 and
extend through April 2028. The aggregate amount of minimum lease payments to be made over the term of the
lease is approximately $47.0 million. Pursuant to the terms of the lease, the landlord is responsible for making
certain improvements to the leased space up to an agreed upon cost to the landlord. Any excess costs for these
improvements will be billed by the landlord to us as additional rent. We estimate these excess costs to be approx-
imately $7.0 million. The lease required a security deposit of approximately $3.3 million in the form of an irrev-
ocable, unsecured standby letter of credit. The lease includes an option to extend the original term of the lease for
two successive five year periods.

In December 2014, we entered into a lease for new office space in San Francisco, California. The term of
the new office space begins in February 2015 and extends through December 2019. The aggregate amount of
minimum lease payments to be made over the term of the lease is approximately $2.4 million. The lease required
a security deposit of approximately $41,000. The security deposit is classified as a long-term deposit.

In October 2014, we entered into a lease for new office space in Dublin, Ireland. The term of the new office
space began in October 2014 and extends through September 2024. The aggregate amount of minimum lease
payments to be made over the term of the lease is approximately $5.8 million (EUR 4.8 million).

In April 2014, we amended our current lease for our Budapest, Hungary office space to provide for an
expansion of leased space and to extend the term of the lease. The term of the amended lease began in July 2014
and will extend through June 2019. The aggregate amount of minimum lease payments to be made over the term
of the lease is approximately $6.9 million (EUR 5.7 million). The amended lease agreement required a bank
guarantee of approximately $430,000 (EUR 354,000). The bank guarantee is classified as restricted cash.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

On May 28, 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASU 2014-
09”), its final standard on revenue from contracts with customers. ASU 2014-9 outlines a single comprehensive
model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most
current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. The core principle of the revenue
model is that an entity recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or
services. In applying the revenue model to contracts within its scope, an entity identifies the contract(s) with a
customer, identifies the performance obligations in the contract, determines the transaction price, allocates the
transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract and recognizes revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation. ASU 2014-09 applies to all contracts with customers that are within the scope
of other topics in the FASB Accounting Standards Codification. Certain of ASU 2014-09’s provisions also apply
to transfers of nonfinancial assets, including in-substance nonfinancial assets that are not an output of an entity’s
ordinary activities (i.e., property plant and equipment; real estate; or intangible assets). Existing accounting guid-
ance applicable to these transfers has been amended or superseded. ASU 2014-09 also requires significantly
expanded disclosures about revenue recognition. ASU 2014-09 is effective for us on January 1, 2017. We are
currently assessing the potential impact of the adoption of ASU 2014-09 on our consolidated financial state-
ments.

On June 19, 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-12, Stock Compensation (“ASU 2014-12”), providing guid-
ance on accounting for share-based payment awards when the terms of an award provide that a performance tar-
get could be achieved after the requisite service period. The update clarifies that performance targets that can be
achieved after the requisite service period of a share-based payment award be treated as performance conditions
that affect vesting. These awards should be accounted for under Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718,
Compensation — Stock Compensation, and existing guidance should be applied as it relates to awards with per-
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formance conditions that affect vesting. The update is effective for us for the interim and annual periods begin-
ning after December 15, 2015. We are currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of this standard, if any, on
our consolidated financial statements.

On August 27, 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statements — Going Con-
cern: Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern (“ASU 2014-15”).
The standard requires that we evaluate, at each interim and annual reporting period, whether there are conditions
or events that raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the
date the financial statements are issued, and provide related disclosures. ASU 2014-15 is effective for annual
periods ending after December 15, 2016, and for annual and interim periods thereafter, and early adoption is
permitted. We do not expect to early adopt ASU 2014-15, which will be effective for our fiscal year ending
December 31, 2016. We do not believe the standard will have a material impact on our consolidated financial
statements.

On January 9, 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-01, Simplifying Income Statement Presentation by Elimi-
nating the Concept of Extraordinary Items (“ASU 2015-01”). The standard eliminates the requirement of Extra-
ordinary Items to be separately classified on the income statement. ASU 2015-01 is effective for annual periods
ending after December 15, 2015, and for annual and interim periods thereafter, and early adoption is permitted.
We do not expect to early adopt ASU 2015-01, which will be effective for our fiscal year ending December 31,
2016. We do not believe the standard will have a material impact on our financial statements.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk. Our results of operations and cash flows are subject to fluctuations due
to changes in foreign currency exchange rates as a majority of our non-U.S. sales are recorded by our Irish sub-
sidiary and as we incur significant operating expenses in our foreign subsidiaries including our Hungarian
research and development facilities and our sales and marketing operations in Ireland, the United Kingdom,
Australia and India. In the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, approximately 32% and 18%, respectively,
of our revenues were generated by our Irish subsidiary. In the year ended December 31, 2014, approximately
13%, 7%, 6%, 3% and 1% of our operating expenses occurred in our operations in Hungary, Ireland, the United
Kingdom, Australia and India, respectively, and less than 1% occurred in Brazil. In the year ended December 31,
2013, approximately 13%, 7%, 4% and 2% of our operating expenses occurred in our operations in Hungary, the
United Kingdom, Ireland and Australia, respectively, and less than 1% each in Brazil, India, the Netherlands and
Japan.

To date, changes in foreign currency exchange rates have not had a material impact on our operations, and a
future change of 20% or less in foreign currency exchange rates would not materially affect our operations. At
this time we do not, but may in the future, enter into any foreign currency hedging programs or instruments that
would hedge or help offset such foreign currency exchange rate risk.

Interest Rate Sensitivity. Interest income is sensitive to changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates.
However, based on the nature and current level of our cash and cash equivalents and short-term marketable secu-
rities, which primarily consist of cash, money market instruments, government securities, and corporate and
agency bonds with maturities of two years or less, we believe there is no material risk of exposure to changes in
the fair value of our cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities as a result of changes in interest rates.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of
LogMeIn, Inc.
Boston, Massachusetts

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of LogMeIn, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2013 and 2014, and the related consolidated statements of operations, compre-
hensive income (loss), equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2014.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assess-
ing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of LogMeIn, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 2014, and the results of their operations
and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2014, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on the
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 20, 2015 expressed an unqualified
opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 20, 2015

48



LogMeIn, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

December 31,
2013

December 31,
2014

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 89,257 $100,960
Marketable securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100,299 100,209
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $269 and $301 as of

December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014, respectively) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,957 18,286
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,508 4,545
Restricted cash, current portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23 1,492
Deferred income tax assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,053 5,403

Total current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 212,097 230,895
Property and equipment, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,198 13,476
Restricted cash, net of current portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,902 2,531
Intangibles, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16,886 18,983
Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,712 37,928
Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,348 4,756
Deferred income tax assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,470 9,280

Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $279,613 $317,849

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 6,390 $ 7,055
Accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,110 29,482
Deferred revenue, current portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 82,496 101,672

Total current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 108,996 138,209
Deferred revenue, net of current portion . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,667 3,578
Other long-term liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 611 2,218

Total liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 112,274 144,005

Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value — 5,000,000 shares authorized, 0 shares outstanding as

of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —
Equity:

Common stock, $0.01 par value — 75,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31,
2013 and December 31, 2014; 25,371,844 and 26,530,977 shares issued as of
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014, respectively; 24,103,201 and
24,418,760 outstanding as of December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014,
respectively . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 254 267

Additional paid-in capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 200,235 237,203
(Accumulated deficit) retained earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,439) 6,516
Accumulated other comprehensive loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,186) (3,117)
Treasury stock, at cost — 1,268,643 and 2,112,217 shares as of December 31, 2013

and December 31, 2014, respectively . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (30,525) (67,025)

Total equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 167,339 173,844

Total liabilities and equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $279,613 $317,849

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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LogMeIn, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2013 2014

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 138,837 $ 166,258 $ 221,956

Cost of revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,504 18,816 28,732

Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 124,333 147,442 193,224

Operating expenses

Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 26,361 29,023 33,516

Sales and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 70,058 88,794 119,508

General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 21,338 29,181 30,526

Legal Settlements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 1,688 —

Amortization of acquired intangibles . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 565 682 987

Total operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 118,322 149,368 184,537

Income (loss) from operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,011 (1,926) 8,687

Interest income, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 887 547 602

Other (expense) income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (641) (89) 105

Income (loss) before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,257 (1,468) 9,394

Provision for income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,691) (6,214) (1,439)

Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,566 $ (7,682) $ 7,955

Net income (loss) per share:

Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.14 $ (0.32) $ 0.33

Diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.14 $ (0.32) $ 0.31

Weighted average shares outstanding:

Basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,711,242 24,350,913 24,385,297

Diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,356,305 24,350,913 25,386,199

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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LogMeIn, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(In thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2013 2014

Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $3,566 $(7,682) $ 7,955

Other comprehensive gain (loss):

Net unrealized gains (losses) on marketable securities, net of tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . 57 (25) (107)

Net translation gains (losses) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,100 (761) (1,824)

Total other comprehensive gain (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,157 (786) (1,931)

Comprehensive income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $4,723 $(8,468) $ 6,024

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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LogMeIn, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Equity
(In thousands, except share data)

Common Stock Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained Earnings
(Accumulated

Deficit)

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Treasury
Stock

Total
Equity

Number of
Shares Amount

Balance at January 1, 2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,551,641 $246 $154,440 $ 2,677 $(1,557) $ — $155,806
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock

options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 262,366 2 2,679 — — — 2,681
Income tax benefit from stock options

exercises . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 6,635 — — — 6,635
Stock-based compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 14,792 — — — 14,792
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — 3,566 — — 3,566
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities,

net of tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — 57 — 57
Cumulative translation adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — 1,100 — 1,100

Balance at December 31, 2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,814,007 $248 $178,546 $ 6,243 $ (400) $ — $184,637
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock

options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 373,761 4 3,794 — — — 3,798
Net issuance of common stock upon vesting of

restricted stock units . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 184,076 2 (1,836) — — — (1,834)
Income tax benefit from stock options

exercises . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 17 — — — 17
Stock-based compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 19,714 — — — 19,714
Treasury stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,268,643) — — — — (30,525) (30,525)
Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (7,682) — — (7,682)
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities,

net of tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — (25) — (25)
Cumulative translation adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — (761) — (761)

Balance at December 31, 2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,103,201 $254 $200,235 $(1,439) $(1,186) $(30,525) $167,339
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock

options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 858,988 9 17,586 — — — 17,595
Net issuance of common stock upon vesting of

restricted stock units . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 300,145 4 (5,770) — — — (5,766)
Income tax benefit from stock options

exercises . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 383 — — — 383
Stock-based compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 24,769 — — — 24,769
Treasury stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (843,574) — — — — (36,500) (36,500)
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — 7,955 — — 7,955
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities,

net of tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — (107) — (107)
Cumulative translation adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — (1,824) — (1,824)

Balance at December 31, 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,418,760 $267 $237,203 $ 6,516 $(3,117) $(67,025) $173,844

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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LogMeIn, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2013 2014

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,566 $ (7,682) $ 7,955
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,100 7,704 11,137
Amortization of premium on investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 54 198 224
Provision for bad debts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100 116 102
Gain on sales of marketable securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (5)
(Benefit from) provision for deferred income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (831) 926 (2,707)
Income tax benefit from the exercise of stock options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6,635) (17) (383)
Stock-based compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,792 19,714 24,769
Loss on disposal of equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12 — 26
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,471) 302 (5,804)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,070) (2,986) 1,822
Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,308) (3,764) 476
Accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,552 (2,233) 1,727
Accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,854 3,457 9,234
Deferred revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,960 14,493 23,983
Other long-term liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (418) (208) 1,597

Net cash provided by operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 28,257 30,020 74,153

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of marketable securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (135,085) (90,376) (95,342)
Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 130,000 90,000 75,000
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 20,045
Purchases of property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,277) (10,938) (7,471)
Intangible asset additions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,049) (13,061) (2,529)
Cash paid for acquisition, net of cash acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (14,831) — (22,449)
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash and deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,558) 7 (196)

Net cash used in investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (29,800) (24,368) (32,942)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon option exercises . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,682 3,798 17,595
Income tax benefit from the exercise of stock options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,634 17 383
Payment of contingent consideration . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (89) (104) —
Common stock withheld to satisfy income tax withholdings for restricted stock unit vesting . . . . . . . . . . — (1,834) (5,766)
Purchase of treasury stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (30,525) (36,500)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,227 (28,648) (24,288)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 644 321 (5,220)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,328 (22,675) 11,703
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 103,604 111,932 89,257

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 111,932 $ 89,257 $100,960

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid for interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ 2 $ 2
Cash paid for income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,802 $ 10,094 $ 1,489
Noncash investing and financing activities

Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . $ 742 $ 1,510 $ 1,032
Fair value of contingent consideration in connection with acquisition included in accrued liabilities

and other long term liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 161 $ — $ 249
Deferred financing costs included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ — $ 13

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

53



LogMeIn, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Nature of the Business

LogMeIn, Inc. (the “Company”) provides a portfolio of cloud-based service offerings which make it possi-
ble for people and businesses to simply and securely connect to their workplace, colleagues and customers. The
Company’s product line includes AppGuru™, BoldChat® , Cubby™, join.me® , LogMeIn Pro® , LogMeIn ®

Central™, LogMeIn Rescue®, LogMeIn® Rescue+Mobile™, LogMeIn Backup®, LogMeIn for iOS, LogMeIn
Hamachi®, MeldiumTM, Xively™ and RemotelyAnywhere®. The Company is headquartered in Boston, Massa-
chusetts with wholly-owned subsidiaries located in Hungary, The Netherlands, Australia, the United Kingdom,
Brazil, Bermuda, Japan, Ireland, and India.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation — The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the results of
operations of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and balances have
been eliminated in consolidation. The Company has prepared the accompanying consolidated financial state-
ments in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”).

Use of Estimates — The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenue and expenses during the reporting period. By their nature, estimates are subject to an inherent degree of
uncertainty. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash Equivalents — Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with an original or remaining
maturity of less than three months at the date of purchase. Cash equivalents consist of investments in money
market funds which primarily invest in U.S. Treasury obligations. Cash equivalents are stated at cost, which
approximates fair value.

Marketable Securities — The Company’s marketable securities are classified as available-for-sale and are
carried at fair value with the unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported as a component of accumulated
other comprehensive loss in equity. Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other than
temporary are included as a component of earnings based on the specific identification method. Fair value is
determined based on quoted market prices. At December 31, 2013 and 2014, marketable securities consisted of
U.S. government agency securities and corporate bonds that have remaining maturities within two years and have
an aggregate amortized cost of $100.3 million. The securities have an aggregate fair value of $100.3 million and
$100.2 million, including $67,000 and $9,000 of unrealized gains and $28,000 and $138,000 of unrealized losses,
at December 31, 2013 and 2014 respectively.

Restricted Cash — In May 2013, $125,000 of restricted cash associated with the Company’s Woburn,
Massachusetts office lease was returned to the Company in connection with the expiration of the lease. In April
2012, the Company entered into a lease for a new corporate headquarters located in Boston, Massachusetts. The
lease required a security deposit of approximately $3.3 million in the form of an irrevocable standby letter of
credit which is collateralized by a bank deposit in the amount of approximately $3.5 million or 105 percent of the
security deposit. Such amounts are classified as restricted cash in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
In addition, the Company has made security deposits for various other leased facilities, which are also classified
as restricted cash.

Accounts Receivable — The Company reviews accounts receivable on a periodic basis to determine if any
receivables will potentially be uncollectible. Estimates are used to determine the amount of the allowance for
doubtful accounts necessary to reduce accounts receivable to its estimated net realizable value. The estimates are
based on an analysis of past due receivables, historical bad debt trends, current economic conditions, and
customer specific information. After the Company has exhausted all collection efforts, the outstanding receivable
balance relating to services provided is written off against the allowance and the balance related to services not
yet delivered is charged as an offset to deferred revenue.
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Activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts was as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2012 2013 2014

Balance, beginning . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $109 $180 $269

Provision for bad debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100 116 102

Uncollectible accounts written off . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29 27 70

Balance, ending . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $180 $269 $301

Property and Equipment — Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Upon retirement or sale, the cost of the assets
disposed of and the related accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts, and any resulting gain or
loss is reflected in the consolidated statements of operations. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are
charged to expense as incurred.

Estimated useful lives of assets are as follows:

Computer equipment and software . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 —3 years

Office equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 years

Furniture and fixtures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 years

Leasehold Improvements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Shorter of lease term
or estimated useful life

Goodwill — Goodwill is the excess of the acquisition price over the fair value of the tangible and identifiable
intangible net assets acquired. The Company does not amortize goodwill, but performs an impairment test of good-
will annually or whenever events and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of goodwill may exceed its
fair value. The Company operates as a single operating segment with one reporting unit and consequently evaluates
goodwill for impairment based on an evaluation of the fair value of the Company as a whole. As of December 31,
2014, the fair value of the Company as a whole significantly exceeds the carrying amount of the Company. Through
December 31, 2014, no impairments have occurred.

Long-Lived Assets and Intangible Assets — The Company records intangible assets at their respective esti-
mated fair values at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets are being amortized based upon the pattern in which
their economic benefit will be realized, or if this pattern cannot be reliably determined, using the straight-line
method over their estimated useful lives, which range from four months to eight years.

The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets, including intangible assets, may not be recoverable. When such
events occur, the Company compares the carrying amounts of the assets to their undiscounted expected future
cash flows. If this comparison indicates that there is impairment, the amount of the impairment is calculated as
the difference between the carrying value and fair value. Through December 31, 2014, the Company recorded no
material impairments.

Revenue Recognition — The Company derives revenue primarily from subscription fees related to its
LogMeIn premium services and to a lesser extent, the delivery of professional services, primarily related to its
Xively business.

Revenue from the Company’s LogMeIn premium services is recognized on a daily basis over the sub-
scription term as the services are delivered, provided that there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the fee
is fixed or determinable and collectability is deemed reasonably assured. Subscription periods range from
monthly to five years, but are generally one year in duration. The Company’s software cannot be run on another
entity’s hardware nor do customers have the right to take possession of the software and use it on their own or
another entity’s hardware.

55



The Company’s multi-element arrangements typically include subscription and professional services, which
may include development services. The Company evaluates each element within the arrangement to determine if
they can be accounted for as separate units of accounting. If the delivered item or items have value to the
customer on a standalone basis, either because they are sold separately by any vendor or the customer could
resell the delivered item or items on a standalone basis, the Company has determined that the deliverables within
these arrangements qualify for treatment as separate units of accounting. Accordingly, the Company recognizes
revenue for each delivered item or items as a separate earnings process commencing when all of the significant
performance obligations have been performed and when all of the revenue recognition criteria have been met.
Professional services revenue recognized as a separate earnings process under multi-element arrangements has
been immaterial to date. In cases where the Company has determined that the delivered items within its multi-
element arrangements do not have value to the customer on a stand-alone basis, the arrangement is accounted for
as a single unit of accounting and the related consideration is recognized ratably over the estimated customer life,
commencing when all of the significant performance obligations have been delivered and when all of the revenue
recognition criteria have been met.

The Company currently only offers free versions of its iPhone, iPad and Android software products. The
Company had formerly sold these iPhone, iPad and Android software products as perpetually licensed software,
the revenue from which was recognized when there was persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the product had
been provided to the customer, the collection of the fee was probable, and the amount of fees to be paid by the
customer was fixed or determinable.

Revenues are reported net of applicable sales and use tax, value-added tax, and other transaction taxes
imposed on the related transaction.

Deferred Revenue — Deferred revenue primarily consists of billings and payments received in advance of
revenue recognition. The Company primarily bills and collects payments from customers for products and serv-
ices in advance on a monthly and annual basis. Deferred revenue to be recognized in the next twelve months is
included in current deferred revenue, and the remaining amounts are included in long-term deferred revenue in
the consolidated balance sheets.

Concentrations of Credit Risk and Significant Customers — The Company’s principal credit risk relates to
its cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities, restricted cash, and accounts receivable. Cash, cash equivalents,
and restricted cash are deposited primarily with financial institutions that management believes to be of high-
credit quality and custody of its marketable securities is with an accredited financial institution. To manage
accounts receivable credit risk, the Company regularly evaluates the creditworthiness of its customers and main-
tains allowances for potential credit losses. To date, losses resulting from uncollected receivables have not
exceeded management’s expectations.

As of December 31, 2013 no customers accounted for more than 10% of accounts receivable and there were
no customers that represented 10% or more of revenue for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013, or 2014.
As of December 31, 2014, one customer accounted for 15% of accounts receivable.

Legal Costs — Legal expenditures are expensed as incurred.

Research and Development — Research and development expenditures are expensed as incurred.

Software Development Costs — The Company has determined that technological feasibility of its software
products that are sold as a perpetual license is reached shortly before their introduction to the marketplace.

The Company capitalizes certain direct costs to develop functionality as well as certain upgrades and
enhancements of its on-demand products that are probable to result in additional functionality. The costs incurred
in the preliminary stages of development are expensed as incurred. Once an application has reached the
development stage, internal and external costs, if direct and incremental, are capitalized as part of intangible
assets until the software is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. Internally developed software
costs that are capitalized are classified as intangible assets and amortized over a three year period.
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Foreign Currency Translation — The functional currency of operations outside the United States of Amer-
ica is deemed to be the currency of the local country, unless otherwise determined that the United States dollar
would serve as a more appropriate functional currency given the economic operations of the entity. Accordingly,
the assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are translated into United States dollars using the
period-end exchange rate, and income and expense items are translated using the average exchange rate during
the period. Cumulative translation adjustments are reflected as a separate component of equity. Foreign currency
transaction gains and losses are charged to operations. The Company had foreign currency losses of approx-
imately $641,000, and $89,000 for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2013, and Foreign currency gains of
approximately $105,000 for the year ended December 31 2014 included in other (expense) income in the con-
solidated statements of operations.

Stock-Based Compensation — The Company values all stock-based compensation, including grants of stock
options and restricted stock units, at fair value on the date of grant and recognizes the expense over the requisite
service period, which is generally the vesting period of the award, for those awards expected to vest, on a
straight-line basis. The Company uses the with-or-without method to determine when it will realize excess tax
benefits from stock based compensation. Under this method, the Company will realize these excess tax benefits
only after it realizes the tax benefits of net operating losses from operations.

Income Taxes — Deferred income taxes are provided for the tax effects of temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income
tax purposes, and operating loss carry-forwards and credits using enacted tax rates expected to be in effect in the
years in which the differences are expected to reverse. At each balance sheet date, the Company assesses the like-
lihood that deferred tax assets will be realized, and recognizes a valuation allowance if it is more likely than not
that some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. This assessment requires judgment as to the like-
lihood and amounts of future taxable income by tax jurisdiction.

The Company evaluates its uncertain tax positions based on a determination of whether and how much of a
tax benefit taken by the Company in its tax filings is more likely than not to be realized. Potential interest and
penalties associated with any uncertain tax positions are recorded as a component of income tax expense. As of
December 31, 2014, the Company has provided a liability for approximately $652,000 for uncertain tax posi-
tions. These uncertain tax positions would impact the Company’s effective tax rate if recognized.

Advertising Costs — The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising expense for the
years ended December 31, 2012, 2013, and 2014 was approximately $23.8 million, $27.8 million, and
$36.8 million respectively, which consisted primarily of online paid searches, banner advertising, and other
online marketing and is included in sales and marketing expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations.

Comprehensive Income (Loss) — Comprehensive income (loss) is the change in stockholders’ equity during
a period relating to transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources and currently con-
sists of net income, foreign currency translation adjustments, and unrealized gains and losses, net of tax on
available-for-sale securities. Accumulated comprehensive loss was approximately $1.2 million at December 31,
2013 and consisted of $1.2 million related to foreign currency translation adjustments offset by $25,000 of
unrealized losses, net of tax on available-for sale securities. Accumulated comprehensive income was approx-
imately $3.1 million at December 31, 2014 and consisted of $3.0 million related to foreign currency translation
adjustments in addition to $82,000 in unrealized losses, net of tax on available-for sale securities.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments — The carrying value of the Company’s financial instruments, includ-
ing cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, and accounts payable, approximate their fair values due
to their short maturities.

Segment Data — Operating segments are identified as components of an enterprise about which separate
discrete financial information is available for evaluation by the chief operating decision-maker, or decision
making group, in making decisions regarding resource allocation and assessing performance. The Company,
which uses consolidated financial information in determining how to allocate resources and assess performance,
has determined that it operates in one segment.
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The Company’s revenue (based on customer address) and long-lived assets by geography are as follows (in
thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2013 2014

Revenues:

United States . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 90,233 $109,444 $148,532

United Kingdom . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,846 15,058 19,452

International — all other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35,758 41,756 53,972

Total revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $138,837 $166,258 $221,956

Long-lived assets:

United States . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 4,129 $ 10,207 $ 9,731

Hungary . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,599 1,224 2,018

Ireland . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 234 1,057 1,139

International — all other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 614 710 588

Total long-lived assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 6,576 $ 13,198 $ 13,476

Net Income (Loss) Per Share — Basic net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss)
by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted net income (loss) per
share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the sum of the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period and the weighted average number of potential common shares outstanding from the
assumed exercise of stock options and the vesting of restricted stock units. For the year ended December 31,
2013, the Company incurred a net loss and therefore, the effect of the Company’s outstanding common stock
equivalents were not included in the calculation of diluted loss per share as they were anti-dilutive. Accordingly,
basic and dilutive net loss per share for each period were identical.

The Company excluded the following options to purchase common shares and restricted stock units from
the computation of diluted net income (loss) per share either because they had an anti-dilutive impact or because
the Company had a net loss in the period (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2013 2014

Options to purchase common shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,679 2,389 57

Restricted stock units . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 147 1,192 18

Total options and restricted stock units . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,826 3,581 75
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Basic and diluted net income per share was calculated as follows (in thousands, except share and per share
data):

Year Ended
December 31, 2012

Basic:
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,566

Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,711,242

Net income, basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.14

Diluted:
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 3,566

Weighted average common shares outstanding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,711,242
Add: Options to purchase common shares and restricted stock units . . . . . . . . . . . . 645,063

Weighted average common shares outstanding, diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,356,305

Net income, diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.14

Year Ended
December 31, 2013

Basic and Diluted Net Loss per Share:
Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (7,682)

Weighted average common shares outstanding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,350,913

Basic and diluted net loss per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.32)

Year Ended
December 31, 2014

Basic:
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 7,955

Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,385,297

Net income, basic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.33

Diluted:
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 7,955

Weighted average common shares outstanding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,385,297
Add: Options to purchase common shares and restricted stock units . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,000,902

Weighted average common shares outstanding, diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,386,199

Net income, diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.31

Guarantees and Indemnification Obligations — As permitted under Delaware law, the Company has
agreements whereby the Company indemnifies certain of its officers and directors for certain events or occur-
rences while the officer or director is, or was, serving at the Company’s request in such capacity. The term of the
indemnification period is for the officer’s or director’s lifetime. As permitted under Delaware law, the Company
also has similar indemnification obligations under its certificate of incorporation and by-laws. The maximum
potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under these indemnification
agreements is unlimited; however, the Company has director’s and officer’s insurance coverage that the Com-
pany believes limits its exposure and enables it to recover a portion of any future amounts paid.
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The Company has entered into agreements with certain customers that contractually obligate the Company
to indemnify the customer from certain claims, including claims alleging that the Company’s products infringe
third-party patents, copyrights, or trademarks. The term of these indemnification obligations is generally
perpetual. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under
these indemnification obligations is unlimited. Through December 31, 2014, the Company has not experienced
any losses related to these indemnification obligations.

In November 2012, the Company filed suit against Pragmatus Telecom LLC (“Pragmatus”), seeking declara-
tory judgment after certain of the Company’s customers received letters from Pragmatus claiming that their use
of certain LogMeIn services infringed upon three patents allegedly owned by Pragmatus. On March 29, 2013, the
Company and Pragmatus entered into a License Agreement, which granted the Company a fully-paid license
covering the patents at issue. The Company paid Pragmatus a one-time licensing fee in April 2013, after a por-
tion of the fee was reimbursed in March 2013 from a designated escrow arrangement associated with a prior
acquisition. The Company recorded approximately $1.2 million of expense related to this matter in general and
administrative expenses in March 2013. As a result, the Company’s declaratory judgment action against Pragma-
tus was dismissed by the court on May 3, 2013.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements — On May 28, 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue
from Contracts with Customers (“ASU 2014-09”), its final standard on revenue from contracts with customers.
ASU 2014-9 outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers and supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific
guidance. The core principle of the revenue model is that an entity recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. In applying the revenue model to contracts within its
scope, an entity identifies the contract(s) with a customer, identifies the performance obligations in the contract,
determines the transaction price, allocates the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract and
recognizes revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. ASU 2014-09 applies to all con-
tracts with customers that are within the scope of other topics in the FASB Accounting Standards Codification.
Certain of ASU 2014-09’s provisions also apply to transfers of nonfinancial assets, including in-substance non-
financial assets that are not an output of an entity’s ordinary activities (i.e., property plant and equipment; real
estate; or intangible assets). Existing accounting guidance applicable to these transfers has been amended or
superseded. ASU 2014-09 also requires significantly expanded disclosures about revenue recognition. ASU
2014-09 is effective for the Company on January 1, 2017. The Company is currently assessing the potential
impact of the adoption of ASU 2014-09 on its consolidated financial statements.

On June 19, 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-12, Stock Compensation (“ASU 2014-12”), providing guid-
ance on accounting for share-based payment awards when the terms of an award provide that a performance tar-
get could be achieved after the requisite service period. The update clarifies that performance targets that can be
achieved after the requisite service period of a share-based payment award be treated as performance conditions
that affect vesting. These awards should be accounted for under Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718,
Compensation — Stock Compensation, and existing guidance should be applied as it relates to awards with per-
formance conditions that affect vesting. The update is effective for the Company for the interim and annual peri-
ods beginning after December 15, 2015. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of this
standard, if any, on its consolidated financial statements.

On August 27, 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statements — Going Concern:
Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern (“ASU 2014-15”). The standard
requires that the Company evaluates, at each interim and annual reporting period, whether there are conditions or
events that raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date the
financial statements are issued, and provide related disclosures. ASU 2014-15 is effective for annual periods ending
after December 15, 2016, and for annual and interim periods thereafter, and early adoption is permitted. The Company
does not expect to early adopt ASU 2014-15, which will be effective for its fiscal year ending December 31, 2016. The
Company does not believe the standard will have a material impact on its financial statements.

On January 9, 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-01, Simplifying Income Statement Presentation by Elimi-
nating the Concept of Extraordinary Items (“ASU 2015-01”). The standard eliminates the requirement of Extra-
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ordinary Items to be separately classified on the income statement. ASU 2015-01 is effective for annual periods ending
after December 15, 2015, and for annual and interim periods thereafter, and early adoption is permitted. The Company
does not expect to early adopt ASU 2015-01, which will be effective for its fiscal year ending December 31, 2016. The
Company does not believe the standard will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

3. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash equivalents, restricted cash,
accounts receivable, and accounts payable, approximate their fair values due to their short maturities. The
Company’s financial assets and liabilities are measured using inputs from the three levels of the fair value hier-
archy. A financial asset or liability’s classification within the hierarchy is determined based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The three levels are as follows:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets accessible by the
Company at the measurement date.

Level 2: Inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for
identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are
observable for the asset or liability, and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable
market data by correlation or other means.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the
fair value of the assets or liabilities.

The following table summarizes the basis used to measure certain of the Company’s financial assets that are
carried at fair value (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2013 Using

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial Assets:
Cash equivalents — money market funds . . . . . . . . $ 28,210 $ — $ — $ 28,210

Cash equivalents — bank deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 5,001 — 5,001

Short-term marketable securities —
U.S. government agency securities . . . . . . . . . . . . 75,288 25,011 — 100,299

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $103,498 $30,012 $ — $133,510

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2014 Using

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial Assets:
Cash equivalents — money market funds . . . . . . . . $13,139 $ — $ — $ 13,139

Cash equivalents — bank deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 5,003 — 5,003

Short-term marketable securities —
U.S. government agency securities . . . . . . . . . . . 59,903 19,950 — 79,853

Corporate bond securities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 20,356 — 20,356

Contingent consideration liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 249 249

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $73,042 $45,309 $ 249 $118,600

Bank deposits, corporate bonds and certain U.S. government agency securities are classified within the
second level of the fair value hierarchy as the fair value of those assets are determined based upon quoted prices
for similar assets.

The Level 3 liability consists of contingent consideration related to the August 27, 2014 acquisition of Mel-
dium and the September 5, 2014 acquisition of a San Francisco-based collaboration software provider. The fair
value of the contingent consideration was estimated by applying a probability based model, which utilizes sig-
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nificant inputs that are unobservable in the market. Key assumptions include a 12% discount rate and an assump-
tion that the earn-out will be achieved. The current portion of contingent consideration is included in Accrued
liabilities and the non-current portion is included in Other long-term liabilities. A reconciliation of the beginning
and ending Level 3 liability is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended
December 31,

2013 2014

Balance beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 161 $ —

Additions to Level 3 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 239

Payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (178) —

Change in fair value of contingent consideration liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17 10

Balance end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $249

4. Acquisitions

On March 7, 2014, the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Ionia Corporation, or Ionia,
a Boston, Massachusetts based systems integrator, for a cash purchase price of $7.5 million plus contingent
retention-based bonuses totaling up to $4.0 million, which are expected to be paid over a two-year period from
the date of acquisition. The operating results, which are comprised of approximately $2.1 million of revenue, as
well as $5.4 million of expenses for the year ended December 31, 2014, are included in the condensed con-
solidated financial statements beginning on the acquisition date.

The acquisition has been accounted for as a business combination. The assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed were recorded at their estimated fair values as of the acquisition date. The Company retained an
independent third party valuation firm to assist in the determination of the fair value of the intangible assets with
estimates and assumptions provided by Company management. The excess of the purchase price over the tangi-
ble net assets and identifiable intangible assets was recorded as goodwill.

The purchase price was allocated as follows (in thousands):

Amount

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 67

Current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 296

Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 26

Deferred revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (70)

Other liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (864)

Customer backlog . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 120

Trade name and trademark . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10

Customer relationships . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,340

Documented know-how . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 280

Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,295

Total purchase price . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $7,500

The pro forma results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014, assuming the Com-
pany had acquired Ionia on January 1, 2013, do not differ materially from those reported in the Company’s con-
solidated statement of operations for those years.

The stock purchase agreement included a contingent, retention-based bonus program provision requiring the
Company to make additional payments to employees, including former Ionia stockholders now employed by the
Company, on the first and second anniversaries of the acquisition, contingent upon their continued employment
and achievement of certain bookings goals. The range of the contingent, retention-based bonus payments that the
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Company could pay is between $0 to $4.0 million. The Company has concluded that the arrangement is a com-
pensation arrangement and is accruing the maximum payout ratably over the performance period, as it believes it
is probable that the criteria will be met. The Company expects to pay $2.0 million in March 2015 and the
remainder in March 2016.

The goodwill recorded in connection with this transaction is primarily related to the expected synergies to
be achieved related to the Company’s ability to leverage its Xively platform, customer base, sales force and
Internet of Things business plan with Ionia’s technical expertise and customer base. All goodwill and intangible
assets acquired are not deductible for income tax purposes.

The Company recorded a long-term deferred tax liability of approximately $700,000 related to the amor-
tization of intangible assets which cannot be deducted for tax purposes and is included in the accompanying table
above as Other liabilities.

On August 27, 2014, the Company acquired BBA, Inc., d/b/a Meldium, a San Francisco, California-based
provider of single sign-on password management software, through a merger transaction for a cash purchase
price of $10.6 million plus contingent bonuses totaling up to $4.6 million, which are expected to be paid over a
two-year period from the date of acquisition. Meldium’s operating results, which are comprised of approximately
$1.8 million of expenses during the year ended December 31, 2014, are included in the condensed consolidated
financial statements beginning on the acquisition date.

The acquisition has been accounted for as a business combination. The assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed were recorded at their estimated fair values as of the acquisition date. The Company retained an
independent third party valuation firm to assist in the determination of the fair value of the intangible assets with
estimates and assumptions provided by Company management. The excess of the purchase price over the tangi-
ble net assets and identifiable intangible assets was recorded as goodwill.

The following table summarizes the fair value (in thousands) of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed
at the date of acquisition:

Amount

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 120

Current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 90

Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 436

Deferred revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5)

Other liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (935)

Completed technology . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,580

Trade name and trademark . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30

Customer relationships . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100

Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,437

Total purchase price . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,853

Liability for contingent consideration . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (216)

Cash paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $10,637

The Company’s pro forma results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2014, assuming
the Company had acquired Meldium on January 1, 2013, do not differ materially from those reported in the
Company’s consolidated statement of operations for those years.

The merger agreement included a contingent, retention-based bonus program requiring the Company to
make additional payments to employees, including former Meldium stockholders now employed by the Com-
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pany, in the first quarter of 2015 and on the first and second anniversaries of the date of acquisition, contingent
upon their continued employment and achievement of certain product integration goals. The range of the con-
tingent, retention-based bonus payments that the Company could pay is between $0 to $4.3 million. The Com-
pany has concluded that the arrangement is a compensation arrangement and is accruing the maximum payout
ratably over the performance period, as it believes it is probable that the criteria will be met. The contingent
bonus program also includes payments to non-employee stockholders for an amount between $0 and $226,000,
which the Company has concluded is contingent consideration and is part of the purchase price. This contingent
liability was recorded at its fair value of $216,000 at the acquisition date. The Company continues to re-measure
the fair value of the contingent consideration at each subsequent reporting period and recognizes any adjustments
to fair value as part of earnings. The Company paid approximately $1.0 million of contingent payments in
February 2015.

The goodwill recorded in connection with this transaction is primarily related to the expected synergies to
be achieved related to the Company’s ability to leverage its IT management offerings, customer base, sales force
and IT management business plan with Meldium’s product, technical expertise and customer base. All goodwill
and intangible assets acquired are not deductible for income tax purposes.

The Company recorded both a current and a long-term deferred tax asset of approximately $88,000 and
$433,000, respectively, primarily related to net operating losses that were acquired as a part of the acquisition and
are shown in the accompanying table above as Current assets and Other assets respectively. The Company also
recorded a long-term deferred tax liability of approximately $694,000 related to the amortization of intangible assets
which cannot be deducted for tax purposes and are included in the accompanying table above as Other liabilities.

On September 5, 2014, the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of a San Francisco,
California-based collaboration software provider, for a cash purchase price of $4.5 million plus contingent
bonuses totaling up to $1.5 million, which are expected to be paid two years from the date of acquisition. The
acquired company’s operating results, which are comprised of approximately $490,000 of expenses during the
year ended December 31, 2014 are included in the consolidated financial statements beginning on the acquisition
date.

This acquisition has been accounted for as a business combination. The assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed were recorded at their estimated fair values as of the acquisition date. The Company retained an
independent third party valuation firm to assist in the determination of the fair value of the intangible assets with
estimates and assumptions provided by Company management. The excess of the purchase price over the tangi-
ble net assets and identifiable intangible assets was recorded as goodwill.

The following table summarizes the fair value (in thousands) of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed
at the date of acquisition:

Amount

Cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2

Current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13

Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 404

Other liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (439)

Completed technology . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 960

Trade name and trademark . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100

Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,484

Total purchase price . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,524

Liability for contingent consideration . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (24)

Cash paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $4,500
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The Company’s pro forma results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2014, assuming
the Company had acquired the San Francisco, California-based collaboration software company on January 1,
2013, do not differ materially from those reported in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for
those years.

The stock purchase agreement included a contingent, retention-based bonus program provision requiring the
Company to make additional payments to employees, including former stockholders now employed by the
Company, on the second anniversary of the acquisition, contingent upon their continued employment and
achievement of certain product integration goals. The range of the contingent, retention-based bonus payments
that the Company could pay is between $0 to $1.5 million. The Company has concluded that the arrangement is a
compensation arrangement and is accruing the maximum payout ratably over the performance period, as it
believes it is probable that the criteria will be met. The contingent bonus program also includes payments to
non-employee stockholders for an amount between $0 and $30,000, which the Company has concluded is
contingent consideration and is part of the purchase price. This contingent liability was recorded at its fair value
of $24,000 at the acquisition date. The Company continues to re-measure the fair value of the contingent consid-
eration at each subsequent reporting period and recognizes any adjustments to fair value as part of earnings.

The goodwill recorded in connection with this transaction is primarily related to the expected synergies to
be achieved related to the Company’s ability to leverage its join.me product, customer base, sales force and
join.me business plan with the collaboration software provider’s product, technical expertise and customer base.
All goodwill and intangible assets acquired are not deductible for income tax purposes.

The Company recorded a long-term deferred tax asset of approximately $402,000 related to net operating
losses that were acquired as a part of the acquisition, which is included in the accompanying table above as Other
assets. The Company also recorded a long-term deferred tax liability of approximately $430,000 related to the
amortization of intangible assets which cannot be deducted for tax purposes and is included in the accompanying
table above as Other liabilities.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company incurred approximately $356,000 of acquisition-
related costs for the three acquisitions that closed in 2014 and these costs are included in general and admin-
istrative expense.

5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014 are due
to the addition of goodwill resulting from the acquisitions of Ionia, Meldium and the San Francisco-based
collaboration software provider (See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

Changes in goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014 are as follows (in thousands):

Balance, December 31, 2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $18,883

Foreign currency translation adjustments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (171)

Balance, December 31, 2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $18,712

Goodwill related to the acquisition of Ionia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,295

Goodwill related to the acquisition of Meldium . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,437

Goodwill related to the acquisition of the San Francisco-based collaboration software
provider . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,484

Balance, December 31, 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $37,928
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Intangible assets consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2014

Estimated
Useful
Life

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Identifiable intangible assets:

Trade names and trademarks . . . . 1-5 years $ 666 $ 666 $ — $ 806 $ 682 $ 124

Customer relationships . . . . . . . . . 5-8 years 3,789 1,901 1,888 5,229 2,546 2,683

Customer backlog . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4 months — — — 120 120 —

Domain names . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 years 894 341 553 907 507 400

Software . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4 years 299 299 — 299 299 —

Completed technology . . . . . . . . . 3-8 years 13,963 1,835 12,128 16,903 3,981 12,922

Technology and know-how . . . . . 3 years 3,176 2,597 579 3,176 3,176 —

Documented know-how . . . . . . . . 4 years — — — 280 57 223

Non-Compete agreements . . . . . . 5 years 162 34 128 162 71 91

Internally developed software . . . 3 years 2,485 875 1,610 4,591 2,051 2,540

$25,434 $8,548 $16,886 $32,473 $13,490 $18,983

As a result of the acquisition of Ionia, the Company capitalized $120,000 of customer backlog, $280,000 of
documented know-how, $10,000 of trade name and trademark, and $1.3 million of customer relationships as
intangible assets. As a result of the acquisition of Meldium, the Company capitalized $1.6 million of completed
technology, $30,000 of trade name and trademark, and $100,000 of customer relationships. As a result of the
acquisition of the San Francisco-based collaboration software provider, the Company capitalized $960,000 of
completed technology and $100,000 of trade name and trademark. Changes in the gross carrying amount of
domain names are due to foreign currency translation adjustments. The Company is amortizing the intangible
assets based upon the pattern in which their economic benefit will be realized, or if this pattern cannot be reliably
determined, using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. The intangible assets have estimated
useful lives which range from four months to eight years.

On November 6, 2013, the Company purchased a software asset for $11.5 million which is classified as
technology. During 2014, the Company incurred an additional $500,000 to develop this technology. The
technology will be incorporated into certain of the Company’s products, and is being amortized straight-line over
its estimated useful life of 5 years.

The Company capitalized costs related to internally developed computer software to be sold as a service
incurred during the application development stage of $1.2 million and $2.1 million during 2013 and 2014,
respectively, and is amortizing these costs over the expected lives of the related services. The Company paid
$358,000 and $22,000 during 2013 and 2014, respectively, to acquire domain names.
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The Company is amortizing the intangible assets over the estimated useful lives noted above. Amortization
expense for intangible assets was $2.1 million, $2.5 million and $4.9 million for the years ended December 31,
2012, 2013 and 2014, respectively. Amortization relating to software, technology and know-how, documented
know-how, and internally developed software is recorded within cost of revenues and the amortization of trade-
name and trademark, customer base, customer backlog, domain names, and non-compete agreements is recorded
within operating expenses. Future estimated amortization expense for intangible assets is as follows at
December 31, 2014 (in thousands):

Amortization Expense (Years Ending December 31) Amount

2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,037

2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,609

2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,270

2018 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,435

2019 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,096

Thereafter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 536

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $18,983

6. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2013 2014

Computer equipment and software . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 22,276 $ 24,968

Office equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,235 3,624

Furniture & fixtures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,083 4,075

Construction in progress . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 456 684

Leasehold improvements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,967 3,752

Total property and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 32,017 37,103

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (18,819) (23,627)

Property and equipment, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 13,198 $ 13,476

Depreciation expense for property and equipment was $4.0 million, $5.2 million and $6.2 million for the
years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014.

7. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2013

December 31,
2014

Marketing programs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 4,631 $ 7,626

Payroll and payroll related . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,719 14,873

Professional fees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,064 1,961

Other accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,696 5,022

Total accrued liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $20,110 $29,482

67



8. Income Taxes

The domestic and foreign components of income before provision for income taxes are as follows (in
thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2013 2014

Domestic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 7,789 $ 10,389 $ (4,462)
Foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,532) (11,857) 13,856

Total income (loss) before provision for income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 6,257 $ (1,468) $ 9,394

The provision for income taxes is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2013 2014

Current
Federal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 8,324 $ 5,480 $ 2,804
State . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,181 1,346 1,184
Foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 126 952 1,052

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,631 7,778 5,040

Deferred
Federal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,926) (1,379) (3,069)
State . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44 (177) (748)
Foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,058) (8) 216

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6,940) (1,564) (3,601)

Total provision for income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,691 $ 6,214 $ 1,439

A reconciliation of the Company’s effective tax rate to the statutory federal income tax rate is as follows:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2012 2013 2014

Statutory tax rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Change in valuation allowance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (10.8) — —
Impact of permanent differences . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15.6 (82.3) 16.2
Foreign tax rate differential . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (11.5) (346.9) (39.1)
Research and development credits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 23.1 (2.6)
State taxes, net of federal benefit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13.8 (51.9) 2.9
Impact of uncertain tax positions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.8 (3.6) 3.8
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.1 3.4 (0.8)

Effective tax rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43.0% (423.2)% 15.4%

For the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company recorded a tax provision for income taxes of $2.7 mil-
lion on profit before income taxes of $6.3 million. The Company recorded a provision as a result of taxable
income generated in the United States. The Company’s effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2012
was impacted by permanent differences related to certain non-deductible stock based compensation and the
release of a valuation allowance related to our Xively subsidiary.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company recorded a tax provision for income taxes of $6.2 million
on a loss before income taxes of $1.5 million. The Company recorded a provision as a result of the taxable income
generated in the United States, while certain foreign jurisdictions incurred losses before income taxes without
related tax benefits. The Company’s effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2013 was impacted by these
foreign losses and by permanent differences related to certain non-deductible and stock based compensation.
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For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company recorded a tax provision for income taxes of $1.4 mil-
lion on profit before income taxes of $9.4 million. The Company recorded a provision as a result of taxable
income generated in the United States as well as in certain foreign jurisdictions. The Company’s effective tax
rate for the year ended December 31, 2014 is lower than the U.S. federal statutory rate of 35% due to profits
earned in certain foreign jurisdictions, primarily by our Irish subsidiaries, which are subject to significantly lower
tax rates than the U.S. federal statutory rate.

The Company has deferred tax assets related to temporary differences and operating loss carryforwards as
follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2013 2014

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,375 $ 2,783
Deferred revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 627 775
Amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,211 1,806
Research and development credit carryforwards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 404 12
Bad debt reserves . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 56 79
Stock compensation associated with non-qualified awards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,423 11,584
Accrued Bonus . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,530 3,579
Depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 326 171
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 839 1,016

Total deferred tax assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,791 21,805
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,836) (2,203)

Net deferred tax assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,955 19,602

Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,212) (1,234)
Goodwill amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,236) (3,640)
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (14) (45)

Total deferred tax liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,462) (4,919)

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $12,493 $14,683

At December 31, 2013 and 2014, deferred tax liabilities of approximately $15,000 and $1,000 respectively, are
included in accrued liabilities, and approximately $15,000 and $3,000 respectively, are included in long term liabilities.

Deferred tax assets, related valuation allowances, current tax liabilities, and deferred tax liabilities are
determined separately by tax jurisdiction. In making these determinations, we estimate deferred tax assets, cur-
rent tax liabilities, and deferred tax liabilities, and we assess temporary differences resulting from differing
treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes. During 2012, the Company reassessed the need for a valu-
ation allowance against its deferred tax assets relating to its Xively subsidiary and concluded that it was more
likely than not that it would be able to realize its deferred tax assets as a result of forecasted future earnings.
Accordingly, the Company reversed the valuation allowance related to its Xively deferred tax assets of approx-
imately $677,000. As of December 31, 2014, the Company maintained a full valuation allowance against the
deferred tax assets of its Hungarian subsidiary. This entity has historical losses and the Company concluded it
was not more likely than not that these deferred tax assets are realizable. The valuation allowance decreased by
approximately $633,000 primarily as a result of the expiration of research and development tax credits.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had federal, state, and foreign net operating loss carryforwards of
approximately $1,559,000, $1,551,000 and $21,480,000, respectively. The Company’s federal and state net
operating loss carryforwards are subject to limitation under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. As of
December 31, 2014, all federal and state net operating loss carryforwards are expected to be utilized before
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expiration. The Company’s foreign net operating loss carryforwards are not subject to expiration. The Company
recognized a full valuation allowance against its Hungarian net operating loss carryfowards.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had federal, state and foreign research and development credit
carryforwards of approximately $0, $12,000 and $0, respectively, which are available to offset future state taxes.

The Company generally considers all earnings generated outside of the U.S. to be indefinitely reinvested
offshore. Therefore, the Company does not accrue U.S. tax for the repatriation of the foreign earnings it considers
to be indefinitely reinvested outside the U.S. As of December 31, 2014, the Company has not provided for
federal income tax on approximately $14,000,000 of accumulated undistributed earnings of its foreign sub-
sidiaries. It is not practicable to estimate the amount of additional tax that might be payable on the undistributed
foreign earnings.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign juris-
dictions. The statute of limitations in the Company’s various tax jurisdictions remain open for various periods
between 2004 and the present.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2014, the Company has provided a liability of $304,000 and $652,000
respectively for uncertain tax positions. These uncertain tax positions would impact the Company’s effective tax
rate if recognized.

The Company has provided liabilities for uncertain tax provisions as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended
December 31,

2013 2014

Beginning balance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $251 $304

Gross decreases — tax positions in prior period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (56)

Gross increases — tax positions in current period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 53 404

Ending balance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $304 $652

The Company’s policy is to record estimated interest and penalties related to the underpayment of income
taxes or unrecognized tax benefits as a component of its income tax provision. The Company recognized approx-
imately $4,000 and $15,000 of interest expense during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014,
respectively.

9. Common Stock and Equity

Authorized Shares — On June 9, 2009, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a Restated Certificate
of Incorporation to be effective upon the closing of the Company’s IPO. This Restated Certificate of
Incorporation, among other things, increased the Company’s authorized common shares to 75,000,000 and
authorized 5,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock.

Common Stock Reserved — As of December 31, 2013 and 2014, the Company has reserved the following
number of shares of common stock for the exercise of stock options and restricted stock units (in thousands):

Number of Shares as of

December 31,
2013

December 31,
2014

Common stock options and restricted stock units . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,231 4,906

Total reserved . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,231 4,906

In February 2013, the Company’s board of directors approved a $25 million share repurchase program. On
August 13, 2013, the board of directors approved a new $50 million share repurchase program, which replaced
the previous $25 million share repurchase program. On October 20, 2014, the Board of Directors approved a new
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$75 million share repurchase program. This new share repurchase program is in addition to the Company’s exist-
ing $50 million share repurchase program. Share repurchases are made from time-to-time in the open market, in
privately negotiated transactions or otherwise, in accordance with applicable securities laws and regulations. The
timing and amount of any share repurchases are determined by the Company’s management based on its evalua-
tion of market conditions, the trading price of the stock, regulatory requirements and other factors. The share
repurchase program may be suspended, modified or discontinued at any time at the Company’s discretion with-
out prior notice.

During the year ended December 31, 2013 and 2014, the Company repurchased 1,268,643 and 843,574
shares of its common stock at an average price of $24.06 and $43.27 per share for a total cost of approximately
$30.5 million and $36.5 million, respectively. At December 31, 2014, approximately $74.4 million remained
available under the Company’s current share repurchase program.

10. Stock Incentive Plan

The Company’s 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (“2009 Plan”) is administered by the Board of Directors and
Compensation Committee, which have the authority to designate participants and determine the number and type
of awards to be granted and any other terms or conditions of the awards. Options generally vest over a four-year
period and expire ten years from the date of grant. Restricted stock units with service-based vesting conditions
generally vest over a three-year period while restricted stock units with market-based vesting conditions gen-
erally vest over two or three-year periods. Certain stock-based awards provide for accelerated vesting if there is a
change in control. On May 22, 2014, the Company’s stockholders approved an amendment to the 2009 Plan that
increased the shares available to grant under the plan by 1,200,000 shares. As of December 31, 2014, there were
2,220,348 shares available for grant under the 2009 Plan.

The Company generally issues previously unissued shares of common stock for the exercise of stock options
and restricted stock units. The Company received $2.7 million, $3.8 million and $17.6 million in cash from stock
option exercises during the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, respectively.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to estimate the grant date fair value of stock
options. The Company estimates the expected volatility of its common stock at the date of grant based on the
historical volatility of comparable public companies over the option’s expected term as well as its own stock
price volatility since the Company’s IPO. The Company estimates expected term based on historical exercise
activity and giving consideration to the contractual term of the options, vesting schedules, employee turnover,
and expectation of employee exercise behavior. The assumed dividend yield is based upon the Company’s
expectation of not paying dividends in the foreseeable future. The risk-free rate for periods within the estimated
life of the stock option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. Historical
employee turnover data is used to estimate pre-vesting stock option forfeiture rates. The compensation expense is
amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the stock award, which is generally four
years for options.

The Company used the following assumptions to apply the Black-Scholes option-pricing model:

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2013 2014

Expected dividend yield . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Risk-free interest rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.64% - 0.87% 0.87 - 1.36% 1.48%

Expected term (in years) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5.56 - 6.25 6.25 6.25

Volatility . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 55% - 60% 55% 55%
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The following table summarizes stock option activity (shares and intrinsic value in thousands):

Number
of Options

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term
(Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value

Outstanding, January 1, 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,389 $26.85 6.4

Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 35 41.03

Exercised . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (859) 20.48 $20,566

Forfeited . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (158) 36.40

Outstanding, December 31, 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,407 $30.02 6.2 $27,186

Exercisable at December 31, 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 957 $28.24 5.7 $20,190

Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2014 . . . . 1,389 $30.05 6.2 $26,805

The aggregate intrinsic value was calculated based on the positive differences between the estimated fair
value of the Company’s common stock on December 31, 2014 of $49.34 per share or at time of exercise, and the
exercise price of the options.

The weighted average grant date fair value of stock options issued was $18.57, $11.60 and $21.78 per share
for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company granted 633,696 restricted stock units, containing
time-based vesting conditions. Restricted stock units with time-based vesting conditions are valued on the grant
date using the grant date closing price of the underlying shares. The Company recognizes the expense on a
straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the restricted stock unit, which is generally three years.

In August 2013 and May 2014, the Company granted 74,000 and 71,000 restricted stock units with market-
based vesting conditions, respectively, which were tied to the Company’s achievement of a relative total share-
holder return target measured over an applicable performance period which ranges from two to three years (the
“TSR Units”). The number of shares underlying these TSR Units that will vest upon the conclusion of the appli-
cable performance periods can range from 0% of the shares awarded to 200% of the shares awarded, or up to
148,000 shares and 142,000 shares for the August 2013 grant and May 2014 grant, respectively. Vesting of such
shares is also contingent upon the continued employment of the participant throughout the vesting period. All
TSR Units granted by the Company are valued using a Monte Carlo simulation model. The number of awards
expected to be earned is factored into the grant date Monte Carlo valuation for the TSR Unit. Compensation cost
is recognized regardless of the actual number of awards that are earned based on the market condition. Expected
volatility is based on the Company’s historical volatility. The risk-free interest rate is based upon U.S. Treasury
securities with a term similar to the vesting term of the TSR Units.

The assumptions used in the Monte Carlo simulation model include (but are not limited to) the following:

August 2013 Grant May 2014 Grant

Risk-free interest rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.62% 0.78%

Volatility . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 54% 54%

Compensation cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. At December 31,
2014, all of the TSR Units granted in August 2013 and May 2014 remain outstanding.
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The following table summarizes all restricted stock unit activity, including performance-based restricted
stock units (shares in thousands):

Number of shares
Underlying Restricted

Stock Units

Weighted Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Unvested as of January 1, 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,192 $28.47

Restricted stock units granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 705 44.63

Restricted stock units vested . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (430) 27.63

Restricted stock units forfeited . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (188) 30.10

Unvested as of December 31, 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,279 $37.42

The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense within the accompanying consolidated state-
ments of operations as summarized in the following table (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2012 2013 2014

Cost of revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 484 $ 706 $ 1,107

Research and development . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,826 3,761 3,653

Sales and marketing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,962 7,242 9,033

General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,520 8,005 10,976

$14,792 $19,714 $24,769

As of December 31, 2014, there was approximately $37.3 million of total unrecognized share-based compen-
sation cost, net of estimated forfeitures, related to unvested stock awards which are expected to be recognized
over a weighted average period of 1.9 years. The total unrecognized share-based compensation cost will be
adjusted for future changes in estimated forfeitures.

11. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases — The Company has operating lease agreements for offices in the United States, Hun-
gary, Australia, the United Kingdom, Ireland and India that expire through 2028.

In December 2014, the Company entered into a lease for new office space in Boston, Massachusetts. The
landlord is obligated to rehabilitate the existing building and the Company expects that the lease term will begin
in November 2015 and extend through April 2028. The aggregate amount of minimum lease payments to be
made over the term of the lease is approximately $47.0 million. Pursuant to the terms of the lease, the landlord is
responsible for making certain improvements to the leased space up to an agreed upon cost to the landlord. Any
excess costs for these improvements will be billed by the landlord to the Company as additional rent. The Com-
pany estimates these excess costs to be approximately $7.0 million. The lease required a security deposit of
approximately $3.3 million in the form of an irrevocable, unsecured standby letter of credit. The lease includes
an option to extend the original term of the lease for two successive five year periods.

In December 2014, the Company entered into a lease for new office space in San Francisco, California. The
term of the new office space begins in February 2015 and extends through December 2019. The aggregate
amount of minimum lease payments to be made over the term of the lease is approximately $2.4 million. The
lease required a security deposit of approximately $41,000. The security deposit is classified as a long-term
deposit.

In October 2014, the Company entered into a lease for new office space in Dublin, Ireland. The term of the
new office space began in October 2014 and extends through September 2024. The aggregate amount of mini-
mum lease payments to be made over the term of the lease is approximately $5.8 million (EUR 4.8 million).

In April 2014, the Company amended its current lease for its Budapest, Hungary office space to provide for
an expansion of leased space and to extend the term of the lease. The term of the amended lease began in July
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2014 and will extend through June 2019. The aggregate amount of minimum lease payments to be made over the
term of the lease increased to approximately $6.9 million (EUR 5.7 million). The amended lease agreement required
a bank guarantee of approximately $430,000 (EUR 354,000). The bank guarantee is classified as restricted cash.

Rent expense under all leases was approximately $3.2 million, $6.0 million and $7.1 million for the years
ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014, respectively. The Company records rent expense on a straight-line
basis for leases with scheduled escalation clauses or free rent periods.

The Company also enters into hosting services agreements with third-party data centers and internet service
providers that are subject to annual renewal. Hosting fees incurred under these arrangements aggregated approx-
imately $3.2 million, $4.7 million and $5.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014,
respectively.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases including one year commitments
associated with the Company’s hosting services arrangements are approximately as follows at December 31,
2014 (in thousands):

Years Ending December 31

2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 10,347

2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,501

2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,090

2018 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,453

2019 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,837

Thereafter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 53,252

Total minimum lease payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $103,480

Litigation — On September 8, 2010, 01 Communique Laboratory, Inc., or 01, filed a complaint that named
the Company as a defendant in a lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia (Civil
Action No. 1:10cv1007) alleging that the Company infringed U.S. Patent No. 6,928,479, or the ‘479 Patent,
which is owned by 01 and has claims directed to a particular application or system for providing a private
communication portal from one computer to a second computer. The complaint sought damages in an
unspecified amount and injunctive relief. The trial commenced on March 18, 2013 and on March 26, 2013, a jury
in the Eastern District of Virginia found that the Company’s products do not infringe the ‘479 Patent as pre-
viously asserted by 01. 01 appealed the jury’s non-infringement verdict and on June 9, 2014, the jury’s non-
infringement verdict was affirmed by the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. On November 21, 2014,
the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia issued its final order, awarding costs to the Company,
which 01 paid on December 3, 2014, formally concluding this matter.

On November 21, 2012, the Company filed suit against Pragmatus Telecom LLC, or Pragmatus, in the U.S.
District Court for the District of Delaware (Civil Action No. 12-1507) seeking a declaratory judgment that the
Company’s products do not infringe three patents allegedly owned by Pragmatus after certain of the Company’s
customers received letters from Pragmatus claiming that their use of certain LogMeIn services infringed upon
those patents. On March 29, 2013, the Company and Pragmatus entered into a License Agreement, which granted
the Company a fully-paid license covering the patents at issue. The Company paid Pragmatus a one-time license
fee in connection with the License Agreement in April 2013. As a result, the Company’s declaratory judgment
action was dismissed by the court on May 3, 2013.

On August 26, 2014, Sensory Technologies, LLC, or Sensory, filed a complaint against the Company in the
U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Indiana (Case No. 1:14-cv-1406). The complaint alleges, among
other things, that the Company has infringed upon Sensory’s JOIN ® trademark, which is registered to Sensory
under U.S. Trademark Registration No. 3622883. The complaint seeks damages in an unspecified amount and
injunctive relief. The Company believes it has meritorious defenses to the claims and intends to defend the law-
suit vigorously. Given the inherent unpredictability of litigation and the fact that this litigation is still in its early
stages, the Company is unable to predict the outcome of this litigation or reasonably estimate a possible loss or
range of loss associated with this litigation at this time.
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On August 28, 2014, a putative class action complaint was filed against the Company in the U.S. District
Court for the Eastern District of California (Case No. 1:14-cv-01355) by an individual on behalf of himself and
on behalf of all other similarly situated individuals, or collectively, the Plaintiffs. After the Company filed a
motion to dismiss the complaint on January 30, 2015, the Plaintiffs filed an amended complaint on February 17,
2015. The amended complaint includes claims made under California’s False Advertising Act and Unfair Com-
petition Law and relates to the Company’s sale of its Ignition for iOS application, or the App, and the Plaintiffs’
continued use of the App. The Plaintiffs’ complaint seeks restitution, damages in an unspecified amount, attor-
ney’s fees and costs, and unspecified equitable and injunctive relief. The Company believes it has meritorious
defenses to the claims and intends to defend the lawsuit vigorously. Given the inherent unpredictability of liti-
gation and the fact that this litigation is still in its early stages, the Company is unable to predict the outcome of
this litigation or reasonably estimate a possible loss or range of loss associated with this litigation at this time.

The Company is from time to time subject to various other legal proceedings and claims, either asserted or
unasserted, which arise in the ordinary course of business. The Company routinely assesses its current litigation
and/or threatened litigation as to the probability of ultimately incurring a liability, and records its best estimate of
the ultimate loss in situations where the Company assesses the likelihood of loss as probable. While the outcome
of these other claims cannot be predicted with certainty, management does not believe that the outcome of any of
these other legal matters will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

12. 401(k) Plan

On January 1, 2007, the Company established a defined contribution savings plan under Section 401(k) of
the Internal Revenue Code. The plan is available to all employees upon employment and allows participants to
defer a portion of their annual compensation on a pre-tax basis. The Company may contribute to the plan at the
discretion of the Board of Directors. The Company has not made any contributions to the plan through
December 31, 2014.

13. Subsequent Event

On February 18, 2015, the Company entered into a multi-currency credit agreement with a syndicated bank
group for which JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. acts as administrative agent. The credit agreement provides for a
secured revolving credit facility of up to $100 million, and may be increased by an additional $50 million subject
to further commitment from the lenders. The credit facility matures on February 18, 2020 and includes certain
financial covenants with which the Company must comply. The Company and its subsidiaries expect to use the
credit facility for general corporate purposes, including the potential acquisition of complementary products or
businesses, share repurchases, as well as for working capital.
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14. Quarterly Information (Unaudited)

For the Three Months Ended,

March 31,
2013

June 30,
2013

September 30,
2013

December 31,
2013

March 31,
2014

June 30,
2014

September 30,
2014

December 31,
2014

(in thousands, except for per share data)

Statement of
Operations Data:

Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . $37,437 $40,670 $42,970 $45,181 $49,020 $54,975 $58,062 $59,899
Gross profit . . . . . . . . . 33,028 35,894 38,285 40,235 42,900 47,578 50,728 52,018
(Loss) income from

operations . . . . . . . . . (6,630) (123) 2,191 2,636 1,598 782 2,771 3,536
Net (loss) income . . . . . (5,807) (1,360) (56) (459) 1,004 1,330 2,308 3,313
Net (loss) income per

share-basic . . . . . . . . (0.24) (0.06) 0.00 (0.02) 0.04 0.05 0.09 0.14
Net (loss) income per

share-diluted . . . . . . . (0.24) (0.06) 0.00 (0.02) 0.04 0.05 0.09 0.14

76



ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A.CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated
the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2014. The term “disclosure con-
trols and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to
be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and
communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers,
as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls
and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving
their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of
possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of
December 31, 2014, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that, as of such date, our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our principal executive and principal finan-
cial officer and effected by our board of directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assur-
ance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures
that:

• Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of our assets;

• Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of finan-
cial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and
expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and direc-
tors; and

• Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect mis-
statements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that con-
trols may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies
or procedures may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our principal executive and finan-
cial officers, we assessed our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria
for effective internal control over financial reporting established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

Based on this assessment, our management concluded that we maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2014 based on the specified criteria.
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The Company’s Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm has issued an attestation report on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

No change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-(f) under
the Exchange Act) occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2014 that has materially affected, or is rea-
sonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of
LogMeIn, Inc.
Boston, Massachusetts

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of LogMeIn, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assess-
ment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our
audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based
on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of,
the company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and
effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the compa-
ny’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collu-
sion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be pre-
vented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control
over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Frame-
work (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2014 of the
Company and our report dated February 20, 2015 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
February 20, 2015
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information in our proxy statement
for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which we will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission
within 120 days of December 31, 2014.

We have adopted a code of ethics, called the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which applies to our
officers, including our principal executive, financial and accounting officers, and our directors and employees.
We have posted the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics on our website at https://secure.logmein.com/ under
the “Investors” section. We intend to make all required disclosures concerning any amendments to, or waivers
from, the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics on our website.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information in our proxy statement
for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which we will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission
within 120 days of December 31, 2014.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information in our proxy statement
for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which we will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission
within 120 days of December 31, 2014.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information in our proxy statement
for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which we will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission
within 120 days of December 31, 2014.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information in our proxy statement
for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which we will file with the Securities and Exchange Commission
within 120 days of December 31, 2014.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) (1) Financial Statements

See Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 47 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which
is incorporated into this item by reference.

(a) (2) Financial Statement Schedules

No financial statement schedules have been submitted because they are not required or are not applicable or
because the information required is included in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto.

(a) (3) Exhibits

See Exhibit Index on page 82 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which is incorporated into this item by
reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

LOGMEIN, INC.

By: /s/ Michael K. Simon

Michael K. Simon

Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: February 20, 2015

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ MICHAEL K. SIMON

Michael K. Simon
Chief Executive Officer and Director

(Principal Executive Officer)

February 20, 2015

/s/ EDWARD K. HERDIECH

Edward K. Herdiech
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

February 20, 2015

/s/ STEVEN J. BENSON

Steven J. Benson

Director February 20, 2015

/s/ STEVEN G. CHAMBERS

Steven G. Chambers

Director February 20, 2015

/s/ MICHAEL J. CHRISTENSON

Michael J. Christenson

Director February 20, 2015

/s/ EDWIN J. GILLIS

Edwin J. Gillis

Director February 20, 2015

/s/ GREGORY W. HUGHES

Gregory W. Hughes

Director February 20, 2015

/s/ MARILYN MATZ

Marilyn Matz

Director February 20, 2015

/s/ IRFAN SALIM

Irfan Salim

Director February 20, 2015
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Description

3.1(1) Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant

3.2(2) Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant

4.1(1) Specimen Certificate evidencing shares of common stock

10.1(1) 2004 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended

10.2(1) Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan

10.3(1) Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement under the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan

10.4(1) 2007 Stock Incentive Plan

10.5(1) Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 2007 Stock Incentive Plan

10.6(1) Form of Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement under the 2007 Stock Incentive Plan

10.7(1) Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the 2007 Stock Incentive Plan

10.8(1) Indemnification Agreement, dated as of July 23, 2008, between the Registrant and Steven Benson

10.9(1) Indemnification Agreement, dated as of July 23, 2008, between the Registrant and Edwin Gillis

10.10(1) Indemnification Agreement, dated as of July 23, 2008, between the Registrant and Irfan Salim

10.11(1) Indemnification Agreement, dated as of July 23, 2008, between the Registrant and Michael Simon

10.12(3) Indemnification Agreement, dated as of August 10, 2010, between the Registrant and
Michael Christenson

10.13(3) Indemnification Agreement, dated as of January19, 2011, between the Registrant and Greg Hughes

10.14(9) Indemnification Agreement, dated as of August 26, 2014, between the Registrant and
Steven G. Chambers

10.15(9) Indemnification Agreement, dated as of August 27, 2014, between the Registrant and Marilyn Matz

10.16(3) Form of Director Indemnification Agreement

10.17(4) Lease Agreement, dated April 11, 2012, between Lincoln Summer Street Venture, LLC and the
Registrant

10.18* Lease Agreement, dated December 19, 2014, between DWF III Synergy, LLC and the Registrant

10.19(1) Amended and Restated Letter Agreement, dated as of April 23, 2008, between the Registrant and
Michael Simon

10.20(1) Form of Management Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan

10.21(1) Form of Management Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement under the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan

10.22(1) Form of Director Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement under the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan

10.23(1) Form of Employment Offer Letter

10.24(8) Amended and Restated 2009 Stock Incentive Plan

10.25(5) Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan

10.26(6) Form of Director Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan

10.27(7) Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Performance-based Vesting) under the 2009 Stock
Incentive Plan
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Exhibit
Number Description

21.1* Subsidiaries of the Registrant

23.1* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

23.2* Consent of Shields & Company, Inc.

31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

32.2* Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

101 The following materials from LogMeIn, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2014, formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the
Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the Consolidated Statements of Income, (iii) the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows, and (iv) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

* Filed herewith.

(1) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended
(Reg 333-148620)

(2) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 15, 2013
(001-34391)

(3) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010
(001-34391)

(4) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2012 (001-34391)

(5) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2012 (001-34391)

(6) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated June 24, 2013 (001-34391)

(7) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated August 20, 2013 (001-34391)

(8) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 23, 2014 (001-34391)

(9) Incorporated by reference to Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2014 (001-34391)
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LogMeIn’s essential cloud services help millions of mobile professionals, hundreds of 

thousands of small and medium businesses, and thousands of the world’s premier service 

providers simply connect to the people, devices and data that make up their digital lives.
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